## MORPHOLOGICAL IDENTIFICATION AND *IN VITRO* EFFICACY OF FUNGICIDES IN CONTROL OF *PHYTOPHTHORA* CAUSING PINEAPPLE HEART ROT DISEASE IN UGANDA

BY

#### OCWA AKASAIRI (BVoc. Agric/ Educ., KYU) REG No. 14/U/14248/GMCS/PE

## A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO KYAMBOGO UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF THE MASTER OF SCIENCE IN CROP SCIENCE DEGREE OF KYAMBOGO UNIVERSITY

DECEMBER, 2016

#### DECLARATION

I, Ocwa Akasairi do hereby declare that this thesis is my original work and has never been submitted to any institution of higher learning for an academic award.

Signed.....

Date 5/12/2016

#### APPROVAL

This is to certify that this work was carried out under our supervision as University supervisors.

Associate Professor Bosco Bua

Signed.....

Dr. Geoffrey Tusiime

Date .....

#### DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to Associate Professor Bosco Bua for the immeasurable mentorship and support right from my undergraduate studies to-date. I know without you, my graduate studies would have remained more of a dream than a reality! Additionally, to my late grandfather, you loved education. I wish you had stayed to witness the fruits of your investment.



#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To God be the glory for the great things He has done. He gave me the opportunity and favour to join graduate studies and carry out this research.

I am greatly indebted to my supervisors Associate Professor Bosco Bua and Dr. Geoffrey Tusiime for the guidance, constant encouragement and constructive suggestions aimed at professionally steering this work to a successful completion. More importantly, the two supervisors had thorough and critical reading of many drafts of this thesis. It was entirely the efforts of these dedicated supervisors that made this thesis to derive the sense and meaning it carries. Additionally, I appreciate the values of critical thinking, patience, perseverance and hard work inculcated to me by Associate Professor Bosco Bua. I know these have been among the greatest values I have gained in my line of career development.

Special appreciation also goes to the Regional University Forum for Capacity Building in Agriculture (RUFORUM) for funding this study, and for the financial support rendered to me during the course of my graduate studies. Without the funding, I would not have come this far. I do appreciate the mentorship and every pieces of information I received from the lecturers from the Department of Agriculture at Kyambogo University during the course of my graduate studies for it has widened my scope and understanding of the matters pertaining to graduate studies. Special thanks go to Ms. Acam Catherine and Mr. Kato Fred from International center for tropical Agriculture (CIAT) and Mr. Mawejje Dan from National crops resources research institute (NaCRRI) for their technical and laboratory support during the course of laboratory

work. Additionally, I am grateful to the Management of (NaCRRI) and National agriculture

research laboratories (NARL) for allowing me to use their facilities and not forgetting pineapple farmers in central Uganda for allowing me pick the infected pineapple plants from their fields.

Special appreciation also goes to Associate Professor William Faustine Epeju of the department of Agriculture Kyambogo University for histechnical guidance on research methods and general counseling on graduate work experience for this kept me working despite many challenges.

In a special way, I wish to register my sincere thanks and gratitude for the parental roles of my grandparents, Mr. and Mrs. Ocwa, my uncle Mr. Okurut Sam as well as my aunts, who shaped my perspective about life and education. I am also grateful to my parents, Mr. and Mrs. Obola, for their commitment in the fulfillment of their parental obligations and all that they did to help me understand myself.

My sincere heartfelt gratitude goes to my wife Namusisi Annet, daughter Imukeka Priscilla Jordan, brothers Onyoin James, Tukei Erry, Okiring Wilson, Obola George, Aurai Ben, Ogwang Alex, and Okipi Moses; sisters Apio Loy and Amisiri Esther for the conducive environment rendered to me during the course of this study.

Last but not the least; I thank the Almighty God for the gift of special friends especially Messrs: Okello Charles, Oculi Jasper, Batya Martin Chelimo, Awio Thomas, Ekwaro Benson, Gobo Denis, Rusagura Joseph, Opolot Sam, Kiiza Goden, Ocen Richard Emeru and Otim James Peter. I am grateful for your support that streamlined the progress of my graduate studies.

Lastly, to all those not mentioned here but who rendered tremendous support, prayers, encouragement, guidance and any other positive fresh thoughts in general life, I treasure you so much.

May the Almighty God reward all of you abundantly!

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLA	ARATIONii
APPRO	DVALiii
DEDIC	ATION iv
ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS
LIST C	OF TABLES
LIST C	OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONSxii
LIST C	DF APPENDICESxiii
ABSTR	xiv
CHAP	TER ONE: INTRODUCTION 1
1.1	Production trend and importance of pineapple 1
1.2	Constraints to pineapple production
1.3	Pineapple production areas and varieties in Uganda 4
1.4	Statement of the problem
1.5	Justification of the study
1.6	General objective of the study
1.7	Specific objectives of the study
1.8	Hypotheses
1.9	Significance of the study
CHAP	TER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1	Symptoms of pineapple heart rot disease
2.1	Etiology and epidemiology of pineapple heart rot disease
2.2	Isolation of <i>Phytophthora</i> species associated with pineapple heart rot disease9
2.3	Morphological characterization of Phytophthora species associated with10

2.4	Management of Phytophthora species associated with pineapple heart rot disease14
2.5	Reaction of Phytophthora species associated with pineapple heart rot disease 15
	to fungicides
2.6	Pathogenicity of Phytophthora species associated with pineapple heart rot disease 17
2.7	Literature review summary
CHAPT PHYTC DISEA	TER THREE: MORPHOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF OPHTHORA SPECIES ASSOCIATED WITH PINEAPPLE HEART ROT SE IN UGANDA
3.1	Introduction
3.2	Materials and methods
3.2.1	Collection of symptomatic samples
3.2.2.	Isolates examination criteria
3.2.3	Study location
3.2.4	Isolation of Phytophthora species
3.2.5	Pathogenicity testing of <i>Phytophthora</i> isolates
3.2.6	Isolate characterization
3. 2.6.1	Radial growth rate and mycelium growth pattern
3.2.6.2	Sporangia production and morphology characterization
3.2.7	Data analyses
3.3	Results
3.3.1	Isolation and pathogenicity tests of Phytophthora species associated with PHRD24
3.3.2	Identification of <i>Phytophthora</i> isolates causing pineapple heart rot disease
3.3. 2.1	Growth pattern, rate and colony morphology of <i>Phytophthora</i> isolates
3.3.2.2	Micro morphological characteristics of <i>Phytophthora</i> solates31
 3.4	Discussion

3.4.1	Isolation of Phytophthora species associated with pineapple heart rot disease
3.4.2	Sporulation of Phytophthora species isolates
3.4.3	Pathogenicity of Phytophthora species isolates recovered
3.4.4	Morphological characterization of <i>Phytophthora</i> species associated with PHRD
CHAP FUNG	PTER FOUR: IN VITRO REACTION OF Phytophthora nicotianae ISOLATES TO ICIDES
4.1	Introduction
4.2	Methods and materials
4.2.1	Experimental location and fungicides
4.2.2	Media preparation and amendment
4.2.3	Data collection and analyses
4.3	Results
4.3.1	Reaction of Phytophthora nicotianae isolates to Metalaxyl and Victory 72 powder .45
4.3.2	Reaction of Phytophthora nicotianae isolates to Metalaxyl and Fosetyl Al
4.4	Discussion
CHAP RECO	TER FIVE: GENERAL DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND OMMENDATIONS
5.1	General discussion
5.2	Conclusions
5.3	Recommendations
REFE	RENCES

ix

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Major producers of pineapple
Table 2: Selected morphological features of Phytophthora species causing pineapple heart rot
disease12
Table 3: Origin and pathogenicity of Phytophthora isolates at Kyambogo University screen
house, 201627
Table 4: Summary of ANOVA table for growth of Phytophthora isolates on PDA over seven day
period at NARL, 2016
Table 5: Colony diameter of <i>Phytophthora</i> isolates grown on PDA for a period of seven days at
NARL Trial 1, 2016
Table 6: Colony diameter of <i>Phytophthora</i> isolates grown on PDA for a period of seven days at
NARL Trial II, 2016
Table 7: Summary of ANOVA table for micro morphological characteristics of Phytophthora
isolates at NARL, 2016
Table 8: Micro morphological characteristics of 37 Phytophthora isolates isolated from PHRD
infested pineapple leaves at NARL, trial I 2016
Table 9: Summary of ANOVA for the effect of Metalaxyl and Victory 72 powder on growth of
20 Phytophthora nicotianae isolates at NARL, 2016
Table 10: Summary of ANOVA for the effect of Metalaxyl and Fosetyl Al on the growth of eight
selected Phytophthora nicotianae isolates at NARL, 2016

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Isolation of PHRD causal organisms
Figure 2: Pathogenicity testing of Phytophthora isolates causing PHRD in the screen house,
Kyambogo University, 201628
Figure 3: Colony characteristics of selected isolates of Phytophthora species in
PDA
Figure 4: Zoospore release by <i>Phytophthora</i> isolates
Figure 5: Micro morphological features of <i>Phytophthora</i> spp <i>isolates</i> 35
Figure 6: Micro morphological characteristics of 12 selected Phytophthora isolates at NARL,
trial II 2016
Figure 7: Complete suppression of mycelial growth of Phytophthora nicotianae isolates by
Metalaxyl and Victory 72 powder at NARL, 201647
Figure 8: Mean colony diameter of eight Phytophthora nicotianae isolates in different Metalaxyl
and Fosetyl Al concentrations at NARL, 2016
Figure 9: Percentage inhibition of eight Phytophthora nicotianae isolates at different Metalaxyl
and Fosetyl Al concentrations
Figure 10: Mycelial growth of representative Phytophthora nicotianae isolates in different
concentrations of Metalaxyl and Fosetyl Al

#### LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

- ACMA Amended Cornmeal Agar
- EC<sub>50</sub> Effective concentration
- CIAT International Center for Tropical Agriculture
- CMA Cornmeal Agar
- KYU Kyambogo University
- PDA Potato Dextrose agar
- PHRD Pineapple Heart Rot Disease
- NaCRRI National Crops Resources Research Institute
- NARL National Agriculture Research Laboratories
- UNDP Uganda National Development Plan 2015

## LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix	1: Frequency of Sporangia shapes and sporangia papillation for different isolates a	t
	NARL, 2016	ŀ
Appendix	2: Summary of study activities	5

xiii

#### ABSTRACT

Pineapple (Ananas comosus L. Merr) production in Uganda is being constrained by a diversity of factors including pineapple heart rot disease (PHRD). Information on PHRD causal pathogen is limited. Also, management options are clear. The objectives of this study were, therefore, to identify the casual pathogens causing PHRD and assess the in vitro reaction of the causal pathogens to fungicides. Pathogen isolation was done using amended corn meal agar. Macro and micro-morphological characteristics of the isolates were assessed. Pathogenicity of the isolates was tested using healthy pineapple plants based on Koch's postulate. In vitro reaction was determined using 10% V8 media amended with 0.1g/L Metalaxyl, 0.1 g/L Victory 72 powder, 0.01 g/L and 0.001 g/L Metalaxyl, 0.01 g/L and 0.001 g/L Fosetyl Al and un amended V8 media as a control. There was a significant difference (P<0.05) in the growth rates, hyphae diameter and asexual structure dimensions of the isolates. Isolates were characterized by a dense rosette and stoloniferous mycelial growth pattern in PDA media. Sporangia were non-caduceus, terminal, papillate and mostly ovoid, obpyriform and limoniform sporangia (32-56µm) with a mean length/breadth ratio of 1.32:1µm. Chlamydospores were spherical and thick-walled (25-42µm diameter). Sporangiophore branching was sympodial. All the isolates were sensitive to Metalaxyl and Victory 72 powder treatment. Based on the morphological characteristics of isolates, it was concluded that Phytophthora nicotianae is the species associated with PHRD in central Uganda. Additionally, Metalaxyl was the most effective chemical against the pathogen in vitro. Molecular characterization of the pathogen is recommended to confirm the identity of the species. It is also recommended that the efficacy of fungicides which have shown effectiveness be assessed further under field conditions.

#### CHAPTER ONE

#### INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Production trend and importance of pineapple

Pineapple (*Ananas comosus* L. Merr) belongs to the *Bromeliaceae* family and is believed to have originated from South America (Clement *et al.*, 2010; Joy and Sindhu, 2012). The crop is ranked as the third important tropical fruit after banana and citrus (Hassan, *et al.*, 2011). Accordingly, pineapple accounts for over 20% of the total volume of global tropical fruit exports (Coveca, 2002; MUZARDI 2010; Olayinka, 2013). Globally, pineapple production was estimated at more than 19 million metric tonnes (MT) in 2011 (FAO, 2013), with about 50% production coming from Brazil, Thailand, Philippines and China. Prior to 2011, Philippines was the largest pineapple producer in the world. However, from 2013 to date, Thailand has become the largest global producer of pineapple (UNATAD, 2016) (Table 1). Currently, in East Africa, by 2008, Kenya (429065MT) was the leading producer country in the region followed by Tanzania (78000), Rwanda (18208) and lastly Uganda (1600) (MUZARDI, 2010).

Though being the last producer in East Africa, pineapple by far is the most developed and widely grown commodity in the fruit crop range and value chain in Uganda (UIA, 2001). The involvement of Non Government organizations (NGO's) like VEDCO strengthens the pineapple value chain by providing services in farmer extension and training services, market information and linking farmers to buyers (MUZARDI, 2010).

1

Rank	Country	Production (Metric tonnes)
1	Thailand	2 650 000
2	Costa Rica	2 484 729
3	Brazil	2 478 178
4	Philippines	2 397 628
5	Indonesia	1 780 889
6	India	1 456 000
7	Nigeria	1 420 000
8	China	1 000 000
9	Mexico	759 976
10	Colombia	551 133
	Colombia	591 155

Table 1: Major producers of pineapple in the world

Source: UNCTAD, 2016

Pineapple is a very important crop due to its numerous attributes. Pineapple is popularly known as a queen of fruits because of its excellent taste and flavor (Olanyinka, 2013). The fruit is eaten as fresh fruit, or can be canned and processed to produce juice concentrate. Pineapple possesses exceptional juiciness, vibrant tropical flavor and has immense health benefits. It is a rich source of calcium, potassium, dietary fiber and vitamin C. Pineapple also provides a good source of vitamin B1, B6 and copper which are cerebral toners that help to combat loss of memory, sadness and melancholy (Joy, 2010). Pineapple is a natural anti-inflammatory fruit rich in sulfur proteolytic enzyme bromelain used for tenderizing meat (Gap *et al.*, 2010; Sunantha and Saroat, 2011; Kujawska *et al.*, 2013). Among its other health attributes, pineapple has been used to treat rheumatoid arthritis as well as speed up tissue repair resulting from injuries, diabetic ulcers and general surgery (Joy 2010). Pineapple crowns and fine pineapple waste from factories can be fed to cattle, pigs and horses. Potted ethylated pineapple plants with fruits have been used as ornamentals for decoration. Besides, its health benefits, pineapple is financially relevant to tropical and subtropical areas of the world (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015); with recent surveys in Uganda indicating that pineapple contributes to income of many farmers (Bua *et al.*, 2013).

#### 1.2 Constraints to pineapple production

Despite, its importance, the global and local pineapple production is constrained by a number of abiotic, biotic and social economic factors (Bua *et al.*, 2013; Akhilome *et al.*, 2015; UNDP, 2015). Limited capital, poor transport, access to information, poor quality planting materials and low literacy levels are the key social economic factors affecting production globally (FAO, 2013; Olanyinka, 2013). The high perishability of pineapple also limits its Shelf life (Amao *et al.*, 2011), forcing farmers to sell produce at giveaway prices during peak seasons. This drastically reduces potential profits from pineapple enterprises. For example during a survey carried out in pineapple growing districts of central Uganda in 2015, farmers reported selling average size pineapples for as low as UGX 500 (about \$0.15) (Bua, unpublished).

Abiotic factors such as drought severely reduce the yield of pineapple while excessive moisture provide a conducive environment for diseases to flourish (Bartholomew *et al.*, 2003; Aghighi *et al.*, 2015). Key biotic factors affecting pineapple production include weeds, pest and disease (Bua *et al.*, 2013).

In the Lake Victoria basin crescent in Uganda, pineapple heart rot disease among the major diseases causing economic losses to farmers (Bua, unpublished). The economic losses have been reported in other countries in the like China, Mexico and India (PHRD) (Shen *et al.*, 2013; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015; Shreenivasa *et al.*, 2015).

#### 1.3 Pineapple production areas and varieties in Uganda

Pineapple production in Uganda has no clearly documented history (MUZARDI, 2010). Pineapple is majorly grown in the Lake Victoria basin crescent (covering districts of Kayunga, Luwero, Mukono and Masaka), south of Lake Kyoga, western Uganda (covering districts of Ntugamo and Kabale) (FIT, 2007; MUZARDI, 2010; Bua *et al.*, 2013).

Varieties of pineapples grown currently in Uganda include: the small sized spiked (Sasirimu) variety and the large smooth Cayenne (smooth, spineless leaves) (MUZARDI, 2010). According to Bua *et al.* (2013), 70% of farmers in Mukono and Kayunga grow smooth cayenne. Preference for smooth cayenne is that it allows ratooning, is larger and juicier while Sasirimu gives one fruit in its life time and the farmer has to cut back or replant after each harvesting cycle (MUZARDI, 2010). A survey conducted in 2015 central Uganda revealed other varieties like Victoria and Red Spanish (*Kafaransa*) being grown (Bua, unpublished).

#### 1.4 Statement of the problem

Pineapple heart rot disease is reported to be one of the most devastating diseases of pineapple in many parts of the world. For example, in China the incidence ranged from 25% - 30% (Shen *et al.*, 2013). Similarly, in India the incidence was upto 46% (Shreenivasa *et al.*, 2015). This implied serious economic losses (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015; Shreenivasa *et al.*, 2015). The outbreak of PHRD in the Lake Victoria basin crescent threatens pineapple industry in Uganda (NARO, 2012). Currently, limited studies have been carried out in Uganda to determine the causal pathogen of the heart rot disease. Elsewhere, however, pineapple heart rot disease is reported to be caused by *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and *Phytophthora nicotianae* (Joy and Sindhu, 2012; Shen *et al.*, 2013; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015). Whether these two *Phytophthora* species are also

involved in the Uganda PHRD epidemic is not known (NARO, 2012). Yet these pathogens are widely and spatially distributed (Hu, 2007; Joy and Sindhu, 2012) with associated crop destruction of upto 100% yield loss (Rohrbach and Schenk, 1985). Currently, farmers practice roguing to control PHRD but it's not effective (Bua, unpublished). This there're calls for inclusion fungicides as part of integrated disease management like In India, integrated pineapple heart rot disease management involving cultural practice and the use of 0.2% metalaxyl and 0.1% Fosetyl reduced the effect of PHRD on pineapple (Shreenivasa *et al.*, 2015). Consequently, as the first step in developing a disease management strategy, it was imperative to identify clearly the causal organisms associated with PHRD as well as make an *in vitro* assessment of the reaction of the PHRD causal pathogen to fungicides in Uganda.

#### 1.5 Justification of the study

The outbreak of PHRD in the Lake Victoria basin crescent has threatened pineapple production and consequently the quantity exported (NARO, 2012; Bua unpublished). According to Rohrbach and Schenk (1985), under severe cases pineapple heart rot disease can cause 100% yield loss. Unless managed, the disease can result into considerable economic losses to communities that rely on pineapple as source of livelihood (Shreenivasa *et al.*, 2015). For example PHRD caused serious economic losses in Australia, Hawaii, Philippines, South Africa and Thailand (Coppens *et al.*, 1997; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015). Pineapple heart rot disease has a potential of causing loss of susceptible pineapple varieties. Additionally, the offensive odour produced by rotting pineapple tissues pollutes environment. Accordingly, if left unabated, this would not only undermine food security but also interfere with general livelihoods of the local communities (Shen *et al.*, 2013).

#### 1.6 General objective of the study

The general objective of this study was to establish the identity and reaction to fungicides of causal pathogens of pineapple heart rot so as to design a sustainable management package for the disease in Uganda.

#### 1.7 Specific objectives of the study

The specific objectives were to:

- i. Identify the causal organism(s) of PHRD in central Uganda.
- Determine the *in vitro* reaction of PHRD causal pathogen(s) to fungicides commonly used for the management of fungal diseases in central Uganda.

#### 1.8 Hypotheses

- i. Pineapple heart rot disease in Uganda in caused by *Phytophthora nicotianae*.
- *There is no variation in reaction of pineapple heart rot disease causal pathogens* population to fungicides Uganda.

#### 1.9 Significance of the study

- i. The results of this study when disseminated improve farmers' knowledge on PHRD recognition and causal pathogen.
- ii. The findings of this research provide justification for the policy makers to allocate resources for management PHRD in Uganda.
- This information is helpful to the extension agents when guiding farmers on management of PHRD.
- iv. This study provided a baseline on the basis of which future researchers can build on.

#### CHAPTER TWO . LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Symptoms of pineapple heart rot disease

Pineapple heart rot disease manifests as a syndrome where young leaves of infected plants fail to elongate and turn chlorotic; heart leaves wilt and turn brown; terminal whorl /heart leaves of infected plants can be pulled from the mother plant very easily; the base tissue of these leaves are water soaked and have a foul smell. Leaves may also turn red and yellow with necrotic leaf margins and tips; and the developing fruits change colour. As the disease progresses the plant collapses and dies (Joy and Sindhu, 2012; NARO, 2012; Shen *et al.*, 2013; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015).

#### 2.1 Etiology and epidemiology of pineapple heart rot disease

Pineapple heart rot disease is caused by a wide range of *Phytophthora* species (Drenth and Sendall, 2004) which belong to the class Oomycetes (Drenth and Sendall, 2001) in the Kingdom *Chromista* (Drenth and Sendall, 2001; Agrios, 2005; Kirk *et al.*, 2008). According to Sadeghy (2014), the genus *Phytophthora* contains very destructive plant pathogens that attack hundreds of plant species throughout the world. However, the most common species of *Phytophthora* consistently isolated from infected pineapple plants globally are *P. cinnamomi* and *P. nicotianae* (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2002; Drenth and Sendall, 2004; Zeng *et al.*, 2009; Joy and Sindhu, 2012; Shen *et al.*, 2013; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015). *Phytophthora* nicotianae is reported to be a very destructive pathogen on numerous crops including coconut (*Cocoa nucifera*), macadamia (*Macadamia intergrifolia*), pineapple (*Ananas comosus*), taro (*Colocasia esculentum*), tobacco

(*Nicotianae tabacum*) among others (Drenth and Sendall, 2001) while *P. cinnamomi* is one of the species responsible for the majority of *Phytophthora* diseases in trees and shrubs (Hu, 2007; Schreier, 2013).

The pathogens' primary mode of reproduction is asexual. Fruiting bodies called sporangia develop from mycelium and produce zoospores (Gallup *et al.*, 2006). Less commonly, the mycelia of two different mating types can produce sexual structures called oogonia (female) and antheridia (male). When these structures combine, they produce sexual spores called oospores (Green and Scot, 2015). The pathogens spread through infected suckers, soil and water (Joy and Sindhu, 2012). During inoculation and penetration, zoospores make contact with the leaf or root surface, germinate and then enter the plant tissues. Later, during infection and pathogen development a fungus-like mycelium begins to grow in the basal white tissues of the crown within hours of penetration. As the mycelium develops, it spreads throughout the crown (Green and Scot, 2015).

After establishment, disease incidences and severities become high during wet seasons (Purwantara *et al.*, 2004), within a temperature range of 20-30°C and high relative humidity (Mounde *et al.*, 2012). For that reason the inoculum level of *Phytophthora* is usually very low during dry season but high during rainy season (Weste and Vithanage, 1979). This situation is worsened by presence of discarded infected plant materials that raises the inoculum levels (Dakwa, 1974). Saturated soils also exacerbate disease progress (Jung *et al.*, 2013). Recycling irrigation water can further exacerbate a *Phytophthora* disease problem; if inoculum gets into retention or irrigation ponds, use of infested water for irrigation can lead to infection of many

plants throughout the landscape (Schreier, 2013). Weather conditions therefore influence disease occurrence. Dakwa (1974) reported that the fungus may occur in the soil but not be readily available as primary inoculum if weather conditions are not favourable for disease development. During favorable conditions the chlamydospores germinate and hyphae infect young leaf or stem tissues. Because of the aggressiveness of the pathogen, the tissues that are infected produce disease symptoms (Drenth and Sendall, 2004).

#### 2.2 Isolation of *Phytophthora* species associated with pineapple heart rot disease

*Phytophthora* grow slowly *in vitro* compared with saprophytic fungi and bacteria. Special techniques are required for their isolation (Drenth and Sendall, 2001; Jeffers, 2006). This is because they are liable to suppression by direct competition, antagonism and parasitism (Drenth and Sendall, 2001). The use of selective media usually overcomes these problems for example, *P. cinnamomi* shows medium-fast to fast growth on cornmeal agar (CMA) (Bernadovicova and Juhasova, 2005). However, antibiotics have to be added to the isolation media in order to suppress the growth of bacteria. Additionally, because *Phytophthora* species are out competed by many fungi, media which is low in terms of nutritional status is required for culturing. More importantly, plates of selective media used for isolations should not contain any free water or condensation on the lids as water encourages the growth and spread of bacterial contaminants. The commonly used media for *Phytophthora* isolation include CMA or V8 media amended with pimaricin, ampicillin, rifampicin, benomyl, pentachloronitrobenzene (PCNB) and hymexazol (Drenth and Sendall, 2001; Jeffers, 2006). V8 media facilitates easy detection by promoting sporulation of most *Phytophthora* species.

# 2.3 Morphological characterization of *Phytophthora* species associated with pineapple heart rot disease

Historically, *Phytophthora* species are delimited by their morphology (Appiah *et al.*, 2003). According to Schreier (2013), the genus *Phytophthora* has several attributes that are useful for phenotypic description hence the identification of more than fifty *Phytophthora* species based on morphological characteristics (Stamps *et al.*, 1990). Earlier, Waterhouse (1963) used mycelial growth patterns and sporangial characteristics like shape and sporangiophore branching to identify different *Phytophthora* species. Bernadovicova (2003), Bernadovicova and Juhasova (2005) also reported that mycelia growth, sporangia shape, size and shape of reproductive structures can be used in identification and specification of the biology of *Phytophthora* soil borne pathogens under specific conditions (Table 2). For example, the colony diameters from different *Phytophthora* species are reported to vary depending on the incubation temperatures (Mounde *et al.*, 2012). In fact, growth temperature serves as a distinguishing feature between *Phytophthora* species such as *P. citrophthora* (24-28°C), *P. syringae* (20°C) and *P. nicotianae* (> 30°C) (Erwin and Ribeiro, 1996; Mounde *et al.*, 2012). According to Mounde *et al.* (2012), colony characteristics and growth rates are also very useful in the identification of *Phytophthora* species by complementing sporangial characteristics in species differentiation.

Morphological feature	P. nicotianae	P. cinnamomi
Sporangia papillation	Papillate	Non papillate
Sporangium shape	Varies from ellipsoid, ovoid, pyriform, obpyriform to sphe 'cal, with prop pent papilla	Includes ovoid, obpyriform, ellipsoid tapered at the base
Sporangium size	46.2x34.9 μm	60 x 36.0 μm
Sporangiophore branching	Sporangia irregularly or sympodially branched	Usually unbranched
Mycelium morphology	Hyphal swellings have been noted	coralloid, with abundant hyphal swellings and vesicles
Mycelium growth pattern	Dense rosette.	Medium-dense, wooly mycelium, uniformly growing

Table 2: Selected morphological features of *Phytophthora* species causing pineapple heart rot disease

Source: Drenth and Sendall, (2001).

Indeed, sporulation of *Phytophthora* cultures provides important clues for species identification (Drenth and Sendall, 2001). Additionally, variability and development of sporangium morphology provides a more complete understanding of the morphological plasticity of *Phytophthora* species that reveals previously uncharacterized morphotypes (Schreier, 2013). However, the most important characters to observe are sporangia morphology (shape, size), papillation of the sporangium (non- papillate, semi papillate, and papillate), sporangiophore morphology or branching (simple sympodium, compound sympodium, and umbellate sympodium) (Drenth and Sendall, 2001). Although, some species of *Phytophthora* produce

sporangia readily on the surface of the agar media, many species need to be cultured in dilute non-sterile soil extract under light conditions before they produce sporangia (Ferguson and Jeffers, 1999; Drenth and Sendall, 2001, .2004; Jeffers, 2006; Duncan *et al.*, 2008; Schreier, 2013). This is because inducing sporangium formation in the laboratory by *Phytophthora* is challenging (Chen and Zentmyer, 1970). Accordingly, mycelium growth habit and colony morphology are useful tools for describing species and subgroups within species (Aragaki *et al.*, 2001; Erwin and Ribe  $_{2}$ , 1996). In fact, detailed recognition of features of mycelia, colony morphology and characteristics of sexual and asexual structures is very important for correct understanding of the whole infectious process and disease development (Bernadovicova and Juhasova, 2005). According to Erwin and Ribeiro (1996), *Phytophthora* exhibits varying cultural characteristics in V8 media, CMA and PDA media which aids in morphological analysis and identification.

*Phytophthora cinnamomi* on V8 media forms medium-dense, wooly hyphae that grow uniformly from the starting point. The hyphae grow in an aerial fashion above the surface of the agar filling the space between the medium and the petri dish lid (Hardham, 2005). Colony morphology of *P. cinnamomi* has also been evaluated using PDA media (Zentmyer, 1980). Nevertheless, mycelium growth habit is, at times, a challenge to characterize. Unlike colony diameter, it is largely subjective and exists on a gradient (Mbaka *et al.*, 2010). Distinguishing between the aerial and appressed growth habits depends on visual assessment of mycelium density in the agar and amount of aerial hyphae above the agar surface both of which vary on a continuum (Schreier, 2013). Additionally, *Phytophthora cinammomi* always exhibits wide variation in sporangia shapes and sizes both within and among its population with general shape of sporangia pre-

dominantly ovoid to ellipsoid with optimum growth temperature of 24°C (Mbaka *et al.*, 2010) and non papillate sporangia (Schreier, 2013). The colony morphology is always described as rosaceous, petaloid as it is always influenced by temperature. Because colony morphology is a non-stable character on certain media, this may necessitate adjustments of the species description (Mbaka *et al.*, 2010).

On the other hand, *Phytophthora nicotianae* forms a dense rosette stoloniferous colony (Palmucci *et al.*, 2013), produces non-caduceus, terminal, papillate and mostly obpyriform sporangia averaging 46.2 x 34.9  $\mu$ m with the mean length/breadth ratio of 1:34 (Tao, *et al.*, 2011). *P. nicotianae* shows a distinctive dense rosette spreading aerial mycelium with coenocytic hyphae of up to 7-10 nm in diameter in V8 media (Mounde *et al.*, 2012). The sporangia are ovoid and terminal with prominent papilla that varies in size (18-61  $\mu$ m x 14-39  $\mu$ m) as well as produces intercalary sporangium. The colony diameter of *P. nicotianae* is 37.5mm (Mounde *et al.*, 2012). The diploid mycelium of *P. nicotianae* is hyaline, coenocytic and in culture it forms distinctive rosette pattern in the presence of V8 vegetable juice. However, the formation of sporangium in distilled water appears within 48 hours under perpetual white light (Erwin and Ribeiro, 1996; Hu, 2007).

According to Bernadovicova and Juhasova (2005), *P. cinnamomi* always shows a faster growth rate compared to other *Phytophthora* species. Growth rates ranges from 13.5-20.0 mm<sup>-1</sup> (18.1 $\pm$ 0.26) on V8 media and 5.0-14.0 mm<sup>-1</sup> (10.5 $\pm$ 0.2) was reported by Hurbuli (1995) on PDA media in seven days.

However, the limitation with the morphological method of identifying *Phytophthora* species is that morphological characteristics of the sporangia, mycelia and colonies used in the differentiation of fungal species are plastic, influenced by environment and often overlap between species (Mbaka *et al.*, 2010; Mounde, *et al.*, 2012).

#### 2.4 Management of *Phytophthora species* associated with pineapple heart rot disease

Management practices available to manage *Phytophthora* causing pineapple heart rot disease include cultural practices, nost resistance, chemical control and integrated disease management (IDM) (Drenth and Sendall, 2004). Cultural practices such as crop rotation, roguing, manuring and others are cheap and environmentally friendly (Drenth and Sendall, 2004). Also, the use of resistant pineapple cultivars presents an alternative to PHRD management. However, the challenge is that the survival structures of *Phytophthora* associated with PHRD stay for long in the soil hence may not easily be managed by crop rotation (Erwin and Ribeiro, 1996; Joy and Sindhu, 2012). Additionally, a report by Rodriguez *et al.* (2002) in Cuba indicated that there was no pineapple variety resistant to PHRD.

Fungicides with different modes of action for managing PHRD has been reported to be successful (Hu, 2007; 2008; Nina, 2014). For example in India, pineapple heart rot disease management involving the use of 0.2% Metalaxyl and 0.1% Fosetyl Al reduced the yield effect of PHRD on pineapple (Shreenivasa *et al.*, 2015). Similarly, in Hawaii, Metalaxyl and fosetyl Al when applied as preplant crown dips controlled pineapple heart rot caused by *Phytophthora parasitica* and *Phytophthora cinnamomi* by reducing the mortality of pineapple plants. However, Fontema *et al.* (2005) reported that of overuse of chemicals like metalaxyl formulations for management of *Phytophthora* can result into chemical resistance and environment pollution.

# 2.5 Reaction of *Phytophthora* species associated with pineapple heart rot disease to fungicides

Management options for controlling and regulating common oomycete pathogens or diseases involves the use of growth-inhibiting fungicides (Nina, 2014). According to Hu (2007), the use of fungicides to control for Phytophthora diseases accounts for over 25% of the total annual global fungicide expenditure. Major fungicides with different modes of action include: mefenoxam/metalaxy (Subdue MAXX); propamocarb hydrochloride (Banol; Previcure Flex); fosetyl-Al (Aliette); dimethomorph (Stature DM) and etridiazole (Truban; Terrazole) (Hu, 2007; 2008; Nina, 2014). These fungicides are active against oomycetes (Erwin and Ribeiro, 1996; Hu, 2007). Fungicides can be used singly or in combinations for better results. Available information indicates that Phytophthora species have demonstrated a greater degree of sensitivity and reaction to some antifungals like metalaxyl, Fosetyl-Al and Phosphorous acid (Fenn and Coffey, 1983; Ganoo and Saumtally, 2001; Mukalazi et al., 2001). The level of sensitivity depends on the concentration and the type of antifungal used. Rebollar-Alviter et al. (2010) reported that the combination of strong curative and protectant activity fungicides provides a sustainable curative disease program. Fosetyl-A1 has a low activity against mycelial growth in vitro in low concentration (Fenn and Coffey, 1983; Boughalleb et al., 2006). Metalaxyl based fungicides are routinely used world over for Phytophthora management because they show effective protective, curative and eradicative antifungal activity with most Phytophthora species (Gisi and Cohen, 1996; Narayana et al., 2010). The use of metalaxyl formulations should, however, be carefully planned as high frequency of metalaxyl use may result into a possible emergence of metalaxylresistant biotypes (Fontema et al., 2005). Reaction is normally scored as sensitive, intermediate and resistant (Ganoo and Saumtally, 2001; Mukalazi et al., 2001; Kimberly et al., 2010). In

China, 179 isolates of *P. parasitica* screened for sensitivity to metalaxyll yielded 41.9% which were of intermediate resistance and 58.1% was sensitive and none resistant. Additionally, in Virginia, 26 out of 96 isolates of *P. nicotianae* were highly resistant to mefenoxam with a mean  $EC_{50}$  value of 326.5 µg/ml while the remaining 70 were sensitive with an  $EC_{50}$  of <0.01 µg/ml. The resistant isolates exhibited higher infection rates and greater sporulation ability than sensitive ones. The intense selection pressure determines these sensitivity variations to mefenoxam fungicide (Wang *et al.*, 2013).

According to Ganoo and Saumtally (2001), these three sensitivity categories have a significant impact on disease management. In fact, resistance to chemical compounds may result into failure in disease control (Kimberly *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, *in vitro* reaction provides information about the potential for resistance to a chemical to develop in a pathogen and facilitates better examination of the mechanism of action. According to Elliott *et al.* (2015), resistance to chemical fungicides depends on a number of factors including mode of action of the chemical, biology of the target organism and patterns of usage in the nursery or field. For example, *P. cinnamomi* resistance development was as a result of prolonged chemical use (Dobrowolski *et al.*, 2008). Additionally, metalaxyl sensitivity of isolates based on sampling sites in two years 2001 and 2002 in Cameroon showed that metalaxyl sensitivity was significantly influenced by geographic origin of the isolates (Fontema *et al.*, 2005). In Tunisia, reports indicated that ridomil was less effective inhabiting mycelial growth *in vitro* at low concentration and at 100 - 1000µg/L ridomil/metalaxyl completely inhibited the development of *Phytophthora* while isolates in fosetyl grew by 6.5mm after 24hrs of incubation (Boughalleb *et al.*, 2006). Similarly, Wagner *et* 

*al.* (2007), in California reported that *in vitro* inhibition of *Phytophthora* mycelial growth by metalaxyl can be achieved with concentration range of  $1 - <1000 \mu g/L$ .

#### 2.6 Pathogenicity of Phytophthora species associated with pineapple heart rot disease

Variability of pathogenicity has been widely investigated for many crop pathogens because selection for host resistance is dependent on the pathogenicity of the fungus (Huburli, 1995). Zentmyer (1980) outlined a number of studies which indicate there is variability in pathogenicity among isolates of *Phytophthora*. For example, in Australia and California, there were few pathogenic phenotypes (Huburli, 1995). However, Rodriguez *et al.* (2010) indicated that the majority of *P. nicotianae* isolates were pathogenic while others were not. In fact, the *P. nicotianae* caused disease incidence of 25% - 30% (Shen *et al.*, 2013; Bua, unpublished). In Kenya, *Phytophthora nicotianae* isolates produced progressive lesions of varying sizes (Mounde *et al.*, 2012).

#### 2.7 Literature review summary

Pineapple heart rot disease is caused by a wide range of *Phytophthora* species (Drenth and Sendall, 2004). The common species of *Phytophthora* consistently isolated from infected pineapple plants worldwide are *P. cinnamomi and P. nicotianae* (Joy and Sindhu, 2012; Shen *et al.*, 2013; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015). Morphological characteristics of these pathogens in media such as mycelial growth patterns, sporangia characteristics, colony morphology and others aid their identification (Stamps *et al.*, 1990). This information is critical and fundamental to epidemiological studies and the development of control strategies (Mbaka *et al.*, 2010; Schreier, 2013; Akrofi, 2015). Besides, cultural practices have been reported to ineffective in managing *Phytophthora*. Additionally, **no variety of pineapple** has been reported to be resistant to PHRD

(Rodriguez *et al.*, 2002). According to Erwin and Ribeiro, (1996); Hu, (2007), fungicides remain a common management option for *Phytophthora* diseases worldwide However, over use of chemical formulations results into development of resistant biotypes (Fontema *et al.*, 2005) and environmental pollution. Therefore effective minimum fungicide concentrations must always be used. In Uganc, information on identity of PHRD causal pathogens and sensitivity of *Phytophthora* to fungicides is limited and scanty (NARO, 2012).

#### CHAPTER THREE

## MORPHOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF *PHYTOPHTHORA* SPP ASSOCIATED WITH PINEAPPLE HEART ROT DISEASE IN UGANDA

#### 3.1 Introduction

Pineapple production is among the important agricultural enterprises that many farmers are engaged in tropical and subtropical areas of the world (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015). In Uganda, pineapple is majorly produced within the central districts including Kayunga, Mukono, Masaka and Luwero. The most cultivated pineapple variety in Uganda is smooth cayenne with traces of Victoria and Kafaransa (MUZAARDI 2010; Bua *et al.*, 2013). However, all these varieties are being threatened by PHRD (NARO, 2012). Infact, No sources of resistance to PHRD within the pineapple germplasm has been reported worldwide (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2002; 2015). This implies serious economic losses (Coppens *et al.*, 1997; Shreenivasa *et al.*, 2015).

Currently, In Uganda, farmers are employing several methods to manage PHRD including roguing and manuring. However, the methods used have proved not effective in managing PHRD (Bua, unpublished). To make matters worse, there is limited precision on identity of the causal organism (NARO, 2012) yet correct identification of the pathogen is critical to the development of appropriate disease control packages (Mbaka *et al.*, 2010; Schreier, 2013; Akrofi, 2015). Therefore, this study was conducted to identify the *Phytophthora* associated with PHRD in Uganda.

#### 3.2 Materials and methods

#### 3.2.1 Collection of symptomatic samples

One hundred twenty (120) symptomatic pineapple samples (leaves with symptoms of PHRD) we collected from the four districts of Masaka, Luwero, Mukono and Kayunga (Major pineapple producing districts) in the month of April 2016. The collected samples were packed in paper bags and taken to the laboratory for isolation of possible causal pathogens.

#### 3.2.2. Isolates examination criteria

The collected samples were analyzed in the lab to isolate 37 isolates identified as *Phytophthora nicotianae* in trail I. Three isolates selected from each district based on district representation and growth rate were further assayed for morphological characteristics in trial II at NARL laboratories in May – August 2016 to confirm the results from the previous trial I. Both macro morphological and micro morphological characteristics were assessed. According to Hurberli (2001) and Mbaka *et al.* (2010), macro morphological features included colony type and growth rate while micro morphological features included sporangia shape, papillation, sporangiophore branching, sporangia length and breadth, chlamydospore and hyphae diameter.

#### 3.2.3 Study location

The study were conducted in the laboratory at the National Crops Resource Research Institute (NaCRRI) Namulonge, Wakiso district (1200meters above sea level, 00° 31' 30" N, 32° 36' 54" E), National Agricultural Research laboratory (NARL) Kawanda (1190 meters above sea level, 0°25'05" N, 32°31'54" E) and in the screen house at the Department of Agriculture, Kyambogo University Kampala (1189meters above sea level, 00°20'54"N, 32°37'49"E).

#### 3.2.4 Isolation of Phytophthora species

Isolation of PHRD causal organisms was done using cornmeal agar amended with 10mg pimaricin, 250mg ampicillin, 10mg rifampicin, 10mg benomyl, 25mg Pentachloronitrobenzene (PCNB) and 50mg hymexazol (PARBPH) as described by Drenth and Sendall (2001). The symptomatic pineapple leaves were washed under running water to eliminate soil. Five (5) mm pieces were cut off the disease lesions between healthy and diseased tissue. The cut tissue pieces were disinfested by immersion in a solution of 70 % ethanol (used because it was available) for 3 minutes, rinsed three times with sterile distilled water and dried with sterile paper towels. The dried leaf fragments were placed on cornmeal agar (CMA) amended as above (Drenth and Sendall, 2001; Mounde *et al.*, 2012; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015). The petri-plates were incubated at 24°C in the dark for 2-3 days (Drenth and Sendall, 2001; Mbaka *et al.*, 2009; Mounde *et al.*, 2012). Pure cultures of *Phytopthora* species were obtained by sub-culturing hyphal tips onto freshly prepared corn meal agar (ACMA) as described above for 2-3 days.

#### 3.2.5 Pathogenicity testing of Phytophthora isolates

The pathogenicity of *Phytophthora* isolates recovered from the infected plant tissues was confirmed by inoculating them on two month old healthy smooth cayenne pineapple plants (Shen *et al.*, 2013), grown out in the screen house to confirm that they were healthy (Palmucci *et al.*, 2013; Shen *et al.*, 2013). *Phytophthora* isolates used for the study were induced to sporulate following the protocol described by Jeffers (2006). Zoospore release was induced by incubating agar plugs with sporangia in non sterile soil extract solution (NS-SES) at 4°C for 30minutes to shock the sporangia. Isolates were later placed at room temperature for 10-20 minutes to burst the sporangia so as release zoospores (Saadoun and Allagui, 2008).

Isolate suspensions with zoospores at  $10^8$  ml<sup>-1</sup> concentration were prepared and adjusted using a haemocytometer (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2002, 2015). The base of the heart leaves of pineapple plants were surface sterilized with 70% alcohol and blot dried. The disinfected basal heart leaves were inflicted with four wounds and inoculated with  $10^8$  zoospores ml<sup>-1</sup> (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015). Control pineapple leaves were wounded and inoculated with 4 ml of sterile distilled water. The inoculated pineapple plants were laid out in a complete randomized design with three replications. Pineapple plants were left under normal day and night cycle of illumination for three months in a screen house. Pineapple plants were monitored on a daily basis for one month (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015) for PHRD symptom appearance. Once the symptoms appeared, information was recorded and plants left in the screen house.

#### 3.2.6 Isolate characterization

#### 3. 2.6.1 Radial growth rate and mycelium growth pattern

This was done using potato dextrose agar (PDA) as described by Drenth and Sendall (2001). Individual hyphal tips were cut from the edge of 37 actively growing colonies that caused PHRD symptoms in 3.2.4, placed on corn meal agar (CMA) and grown for 3 days following the procedure of Mbaka *et al.* (2010). After growth, 5mm agar discs were cut from the edge of actively growing colonies using a sterile cork borer and placed with the mycelia facing downwards in the centre of petri plates containing 10 ml of Potato Dextrose Agar (PDA). The plates with mycelia plugs were sealed with parafilm and incubated at 25°C in the dark for 7 days (Mounde *et al.*, 2012; Tsopmbeng *et al.*, 2014; Bevans *et al.*, 2015). The plates were arranged in a complete randomized design (CRD) in three replications for each isolate. Radial growth of the growing colonies was measured daily for one week along two lines intersecting at right angles at
the centre of the inoculum disc (Fenn and Coffey, 1983) (Appendix 2). Colony morphology of isolates was recorded after seven day as described by Erwin and Ribeiro (1996) and Drenth and Sendall (2001).

## 3.2.6.2 Sporangia production and morphology characterization

Test isolates were induced to sporulate by floating agar plugs of each isolates in non-sterile soils extract solution (NS-SES) (Jeffers, 2006). One kilogram of loam soil free from *Phytophthora* was collected from a field where trees were previously growing. Fifteen grams (15grams) of the soil was mixed with one litre of distilled water in a bottle and shaken for five hours using a rotary shaker. The suspension was allowed to settle overnight. The supernatant was decanted and centrifuged in falcon tubes of 50mls for 6 min at 6000rpm. Later the supernatant was filtered through Whatman filter paper to remove floating organic debris. The non-sterile soil extract soil solution (NS-SES) was stored for 3days in a glass bottle to allow it to age in the refrigerator at  $4^{\circ}$ C (Jeffers, 2006).

Each *Phytophthora* isolate was grown on 10% V8 juice agar at 25 °C in the dark for 3 days (Jeffers, 2006). The agar plugs (5mm) of young actively growing mycelia were cut, placed in 9 cm diameter petri dish floated covered with NS-SES (Drenth and Sendall, 2001; Jeffers, 2006). The flooded plates were incubated under continuous fluorescent light (18W, cool light) suspended 18cm above the cultures at room temperature (25° C) in order to induce production of sporangia. After 24hrs, individual plugs of each isolate were mounted on glass slides and observed under a light microscope (Zeiss, German) for the presence of sporangia. Sporangia associated features for characterization like sporangia shape, sporangia papillation and sporangiophore branching were examined at ×400 magnification and recorded following the

descriptors of Erwin and Ribeiro (1996) and Drenth and Sendall (2001). Chlamydospore and hyphae diameter was also examined (Palmucci et al., 2013; Rodriguez et al., 2015).

Sporangia length and width/breadth, chlamydospore and hyphae diameter were measured and recorded using the Zeiss camera (German) and software motic images (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015). Thirty to fifty sporangia per isolate were selected and their sizes measured. Recorded features were compared with known characteristics in published identification keys (Waterhouse, 1963; Hall, 1993; Erwin and Ribeiro, 1996, Drenth and Sendall; 2001) as well as with the data from recently published papers describing *Phytophthora* (Mbaka *et al.*, 2010; Mounde *et al.*, 2012; Pao-Jen *et al.*, 2013; Palmucci *et al.*, 2013; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015, Shand and Yamagata, 2016).

#### 3.2.7 Data analyses

Data on radial growth rate, colony diameter and asexual structure dimensions were summarized and their means subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) using Genstat (15th edition) (Bekker *et al.*, 2005). Where there were significant differences, means were separated using Least Significant Difference (LSD) test at 5% probability level. Additionally, sporangia shape, papillation and sporangiophore branching frequencies were also generated using Genstat (15th edition).

#### 3.3 Results

# 3.3.1 Isolation and pathogenicity tests of *Phytophthora* species associated with pineapple heart rot disease

The highest (42%) number of symptomatic isolates was recovered from Kayunga district followed by Luwero district (39.5%), Mukono (10.5%) and lastly Masaka (8%) (Table 3).



Figure 1: Isolation of PHRD causal organisms. A) Symptomatic pineapple plant in the field. B) Pineapple leaves extracted from PHRD infected plants in the field during survey. C) Infected pineapple leaf fragments plated on amended CMA. D) Pure culture of *Phytophthora* species growing in CMA. E) Isolate of *Phytophthora* species. growing in PDA media.

Symptoms characteristics of PHRD were observed within seven days after inoculation of the pineapple plants. The disease manifested as a pale green color and necrosis on the tips of the leaves followed by heart rot, browning of the base of the middle leaves coupled with foul smell (Figure 2). Of the 114 inoculated pineapple plants, 111 (97%) got diseased. Control plants did not develop disease (Figure 2). When re-isolated from the infected plants, the pathogens were able to re-infect the inoculated plants (new set of healthy pineapple plants) producing symptoms as above in accordance with Koch's postulates.

In general, all the symptoms observed on the inoculated pineapple plants were similar to those commonly observed in the field (Figure 2). Additionally, 97% (37/38) isolates inoculated in pineapple plants produced symptoms characteristic of PHRD (Figure 2).



Figure 1: Isolation of PHRD causal organisms. A) Symptomatic pineapple plant in the field. B) Pineapple leaves extracted from PHRD infected plants in the field during survey. C) Infected pineapple leaf fragments plated on amended CMA. D) Pure culture of *Phytophthora* species growing in CMA. E) Isolate of *Phytophthora* species. growing in PDA media.

Symptoms characteristics of PHRD were observed within seven days after inoculation of the pineapple plants. The disease manifested as a pale green color and necrosis on the tips of the leaves followed by heart rot, browning of the base of the middle leaves coupled with foul smell (Figure 2). Of the 114 inoculated pineapple plants, 111 (97%) got diseased. Control plants did not develop disease (Figure 2). When re-isolated from the infected plants, the pathogens were able to re-infect the inoculated plants (new set of healthy pineapple plants) producing symptoms as above in accordance with Koch's postulates.

In general, all the symptoms observed on the inoculated pineapple plants were similar to those commonly observed in the field (Figure 2). Additionally, 97% (37/38) isolates inoculated in pineapple plants produced symptoms characteristic of PHRD (Figure 2).

District	Isolate	Pathogenicity
Kayunga	KAY 01	++
Kayunga	<b>KAY 02</b>	++
Kayunga	KAY 03	. ++
Kayunga	<b>KAY 04</b>	++
Kayunga	KAY 05	++
Kayunga	KAY 06	++
Kayunga	<b>KAY 07</b>	++
Kayunga	<b>KAY 08</b>	++
Kayunga	<b>KAY 09</b>	++
Kayunga	<b>KAY 10</b>	++
Kayunga	KAY 11	++
Kayunga	<b>KAY 12</b>	++
Kayunga	<b>KAY 13</b>	++
Kayunga	<b>KAY 14</b>	++
Kayunga	<b>KAY 15</b>	++
Kayunga	<b>KAY 16</b>	++
Luwero	LUW 01	++
Luwero	LUW 02	++
Luwero	LUW 03	++
Luwero	LUW 04	++
Luwero	LUW 05	++
Luwero	LUW 06	++
Luwero	LUW 07	++
Luwero	LUW 08	++
Luwero	LUW 09	• ++
Luwero	LUW 10	++
Luwero	LUW 11	++
Luwero	LUW 12	++
Luwero	LUW 13	++
Luwero	LUW 14	++
Luwero	LUW 15	++
Masaka	MAS 01	++
Masaka	MAS 02	++
Masaka	MAS 03	++
Mukono	MUK 01	++
Mukono	MUK 02	++
Mukono	MUK 03	++
Mukono	MUK 04	1000

Table 3: Origin and pathogenicity of *Phytophthora* isolates at Kyambogo University screen house, 2016

++ Pathogenic, -- Non pathogenic, MAS: Masaka, KAY: Kayunga, MUK: Mukono, LUW: Luwero



Figure 2: Pathogenicity testing of *Phytophthora* isolates causing PHRD in the screen house, Kyambogo University, 2016. A) Asymptomatic control pineapple plant month after inoculation. B) Asymptomatic pineapple plant close to three month after inoculation (Non pathogenic). C) Pineapple plants showing pale green colour and heart rot disease signs seven days after inoculation D) Pineapple plant exhibiting symptoms of PHRD 21 days after inoculation. E) Water soaked pineapple plant heart leaves exhibiting symptoms of PHRD 21 days after inoculation. F) Completely infected pineapple plants close to three months after inoculation.

## 3.3.2 Identification of Phytophthora isolates causing pineapple heart rot disease

## 3.3. 2.1 Growth pattern, rate and colony morphology of Phytophthora isolates

All PHRD isolates formed a dense rosette growth pattern with white stoloniferous colonies on

PDA (Figure 3). Overall, in trial I and II the mycelia were dense in growth habit (Figure 3).



Figure 2: Pathogenicity testing of *Phytophthora* isolates causing PHRD in the screen house, Kyambogo University, 2016. A) Asymptomatic control pineapple plant month after inoculation. B) Asymptomatic pineapple plant close to three month after inoculation (Non pathogenic). C) Pineapple plants showing pale green colour and heart rot disease signs seven days after inoculation D) Pineapple plant exhibiting symptoms of PHRD 21 days after inoculation. F) Water soaked pineapple plant heart leaves exhibiting symptoms of PHRD 21 days after inoculation. F) Completely infected pineapple plants close to three months after inoculation.

#### 3.3.2 Identification of Phytophthora isolates causing pineapple heart rot disease

# 3.3. 2.1 Growth pattern, rate and colony morphology of Phytophthora isolates

All PHRD isolates formed a dense rosette growth pattern with white stoloniferous colonies on

PDA (Figure 3). Overall, in trial I and II the mycelia were dense in growth habit (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Colony characteristics of selected isolates of *Phytophthora species* in PDA. A) Isolates showing dense growth pattern in PDA in trial I. **B-D**) Isolates showing dense growth pattern in PDA in trial II.

There were significant differences (P<0.05) in growth rates amongst the isolates on PDA media (Table 4). On trial I in the first day, the highest and lowest colony diameters of 4.0 mm (KAY 10) and 1.2mm (LUW 11) respectively. On the 7<sup>th</sup> day, the highest and lowest colony diameters of 42mm (KAY13) and 20.17mm (LUW 12) respectively (Table 5). Results for the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> days are also presented in Table 4. Overall, the average colony diameters were 2.65mm and 25.83mm on the first and 7<sup>th</sup> days, respectively. A similar trend was observed when the experiment was repeated in Trial II (Table 5).

		Mean squares						
S. of variation	D.F	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	Day 6	Day 7
			Trial	I				
Rep Isolate	2 36	2.03***	0.62	0.37	2.5 45.09***	1.39 64.82***	0.99 87.09	1.49 91.19***
Residual	02	0.43	0.72	0.99	2.03	2.32	2.10	4.28
		_	Trial II					
Rep	2	0.11	1.26	0.15	0.43	0.22	0.96	0.44
Isolate	11	2.88***	22.73***	41.97***	52.30***	95.87***	126.47***	128.41***
Residual	22	0.78	0.14	0.47	0.38	0.25	0.76	0.36

Table 4: Summary of ANOVA table for growth of *Phytophthora* isolates on PDA over seven day period at NARL, 2016

\*\*\* means significance at <0.001

isolate	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	Day 6	Day 7
KAY 01	2.17	4.00	7.67	12.00	16.67	22.67	29.00
KAY 02	1.83	4.83	7.50	12.00	14.33	18.00	21.33
KAY 03	2.33	4.83	6.50	10.33	13.50	16.83	21.17
KAY 04	2.67	5.17	8.00	12.33	15.83	21.83	23.83
KAY 05	2.33	6.00	8.67	12.50	19.17	33.00	20.50
<b>KAY 06</b>	1.83	4.33	7.33	12.33	17.50	17.50	24.17
KAY 07	2.67	5.33	7.50	13.70	16.37	18.33	25.00
<b>KAY 08</b>	1.17	4.50	6.33	8.33	11.33	22.00	19.17
KAY 09	2.17	5.33	7.00	13.50	17.17	23.50	29.00
KAY 10	4.00	8.00	17.00	22.00	27.17	35.00	39.00
KAY 11	2.63	4.50	6.67	13.67	14.50	17.33	22.33
<b>KAY 12</b>	3.33	11.4	16.20	20.33	25.2	28.83	31.83
<b>KAY 13</b>	4.50	13.2	18.30	15.50	31.00	36.83	42.00
KAY 14	1.65	4.51	6.50	13.01	15.17	18.33	22.17
<b>KAY 15</b>	3.18	5.50	8.50	12.33	15.33	18.67	21.17
KAY 16	2.17	4.83	7.00	11.17	13.17	18.17	22.50
LUW 01	3.67	6.00	8.00	11.00	14.00	18.17	21.33
LUW 02	1.83	4.67	6.33	9.83	13.33	16.50	20.33
LUW 03	2.17	4.83	7.67	10.83	17.00	17.33	26.80
LUW 04	1.83	6.67	8.88	13.67	16.00	21.33	26.50
LUW 05	1.67	4.50	6.50	13.00	15.17	18.33	22.17
LUW 06	2.00	5.33	8.17	16.00	18.00	22.00	25.67
LUW 07	2.00	5.5	7.00	12.67	16.83	21.33	25.50
LUW 08	3.83	8.33	10.2	16.83	20.50	24.83	27.67
LUW 09	1.87	5.50	7.83	15.17	18.17	22.90	27.00
LUW 10	1.17	5.50	7.67	12.67	17.17	18.33	22.17
LUW 11	1.20	7.83	13.0	21.85	26.67	32.67	34.83
LUW 12	2.00	4.67	6.67	11.83	14.83	16.67	20.17
LUW 13	1.67	4.17	7.50	13.17	17.2	18.33	22.83
LUW 14	2.50	6.00	8.83	15.17	18.33	21.5	24.67
LUW 15	8.00	13.00	15.00	19.00	22.00	24.00	28.00
MAS 01	5.00	10.00	14.00	18.00	22.00	24.00	25.00
MAS 02	5.00	11.00	15.00	19.50	23.00	26.50	28.00
MAS 03	2.13	5.17	9.00	15.33	18.50	21.00	25.50
MUK 01	3.00	10.1	15.2	20.83	26.26	31.50	35.27
MUK 02	2.67	5.17	6.83	13.50	15.00	17.50	20.50
MUK 03	1.33	7.67	10.00	13.17	22.67	26.23	27.83
Mean	2.65	6.48	9.43	14.31	18.36	22.48	25.83
LSD (5%)	1.05	1.38	1.62	2.33	2.48	2.39	3.38
CV(%)	10.1	4.8	6.5	3.6	2.5	3.6	2.2

Table 5: Colony diameter of *Phytophthora* isolates grown on PDA for a period of seven days at NARL, Trial I 2016

Isolates	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	Day 6	Day 7
KAY 03	2.95	6.15	10.43	14.12	17.42	20.85	23.75
<b>KAY 08</b>	2.22	4.96	6.86	8.54	11.87	15.55	19.17
<b>KAY 10</b>	5.85	9.21	16.65	21.26	28.54	34.37	38.15
LUW 03	3.94	6.15	9.50	12.50	15.24	19.32	22.44
LUW 05	2.42	5.00	8.25	11.00	17.00	23.00	27.22
LUW 14	2.55	5.54	8.67	12.64	18.92	21.64	24.62
MAS 01	6.25	12.32	17.50	20.55	25.74	28.56	31.72
MAS 02	3.50	7.50	13.55	17.95	21.32	26.73	29.23
<b>MAS 03</b>	4.21	8.32	13.46	18.25	22.11	25.86	28.55
<b>MUK 01</b>	3.25	6.55	10.55	14.45	19.13	22.54	26.56
<b>MUK 02</b>	3.65	7.42	14.95	20.22	25.35	29.95	34.75
<b>MUK 03</b>	3.00	6.25	9.85	12.95	15.95	18.24	21.64
Mean	3.65	7.11	11.69	15.35	19.88	23.88	27.32
LSD (5%)	1.35	1.78	2.10	2.77	2.95	2.75	4.26
CV (%)	7.3	6.0	5.9	3.4	3.1	3.0	2.8

Table 6: Colony diameter of *Phytophthora* isolates grown on PDA for a period of seven days at NARL, Trial II, 2016

# 3.3.2.2 Micro morphological characteristics of Phytophthora isolates

All (100%) of the isolates were able to sporulate when flooded with NS – SES. Accordingly, varying temperature from  $25^{0}$ C to  $4^{0}$ C resulted in successful release of zoospore by all the isolates (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Zoospore release by *Phytophthora* isolates A) Multiple sporangium production by isolates after being flooded with NS - SES. B) Differentiation of the sporangium cytoplasm to release zoospores. C) Empty sporangia that released zoospores

The sporangia dimensions (length and width) as well as the chlamydospore and hyphal diameters were significantly different (P<0.001) amongst all the isolates from the four districts (Table 6). The widest and narrowest hyphae diameters were recorded from isolates MUK 04 (8.6  $\mu$ m) and LUW 01 (3.0 $\mu$ m). Overall, the average hyphae diameter was 5.6 $\mu$ m (Table 7).

The isolates produced coralloid aseptate hyphae (Figure 5). Sporangia shape of all isolates varied although sporangia were mostly ovoid. However, there were also limoniform and obpyriform sporangia. Additionally, sporangia were all non-caducous and papillate, with prominent pedicels. Sporangiophore branching was compound sympodium for all the isolates (Figure 5; Appendix 1).

		Trial I					
_		Mean squares					
Source of variation	D.F	sporangia length	sporangia breadth	Chlamydospores diameter	Hyphae diameter		
Rep	2	14.09	0.78	10.73	0.40		
Isolate	36	65.92***	32.98***	80.51***	5.18***		
Residual	72	17.34	0.21	13.11	0.19		
		Trial II					
Rep	2	0.08	0.01	0.06	0.11		
Isolate	11	52.11***	29.33***	45.95***	8.81***		
Residual	22	0.16	0.11	0.19.	0.07		

Table 7: Summary of ANOVA table for micro morphological characteristics of *Phytophthora* isolates at NARL, 2016

\*\*\* means significant at <0.001

Isolate	Sporangia length	Sporangia	Sporangia	Chlamydospore	Hyphae
	(µm)	breautii (µiii)	ratio	ulameter (µm)	(um)
KAY 01	51.1	37.6	1.35 . 1	32.0	60
<b>KAY 02</b>	51.7	40.4	1 27 • 1	27.0	7.5
<b>KAY 03</b>	46.1	34.0	1.36:1	37.5	5.0
<b>KAY 04</b>	56.0	40.0	1.40:1	38.0	6.0
KAY 05	55.0	41.5	1.33:1	42.0	6.0
<b>KAY 06</b>	45.7	37.5	1.22:1	41.0	6.7
<b>KAY 07</b>	52.0	37.5	1.38:1	32.0	6.0
<b>KAY 08</b>	33.2	30.85	1.11:1	41.0	6.5
<b>KAY 09</b>	52.0	37.5	1.39:1	32.0	6.0
<b>KAY 10</b>	42.0	30.3	1.39:1	40.0	3.0
<b>KAY 11</b>	54.0	42.0	1.29:1	No	4.0
<b>KAY 12</b>	47.3	37.2	1.27:1	37.5	5.7
<b>KAY 13</b>	46.7	33.0	1.42:1	24.7	6.0
<b>KAY 14</b>	54.7	42.0	1.30:1	30.7	6.0
<b>KAY 15</b>	50.3	39.0	1.28:1	40.0	3.5
<b>KAY 16</b>	50.3	39.0	1.28:1	40.0	3.5
LUW 01	47.6	34.0	1.40:1	25.0	6.0
LUW 02	50.0	38.5	1.29:1	28.0	5.5
LUW 03	51.8	35.5	1.46:1	30.0	4.5
LUW 04	51.8	35.5	1.46:1	30.0	4.5
LUW 05	56.0	40.0	1.40:1	38.0	6.7
LUW 06	57.5	39.0 .	1.47:1	40.0	3.3
LUW 07	52.3	42.0	1.25:1	40.0	6.7
LUW 08	51.8	35.5	1.46:1	40.0	4.5
LUW 09	51.3	39.5	1.29:1	38.5	4.0
LUW 10	52.0	41.0	1.27:1	39.5	7.5
*LUW 11	45.7	36.0	1.27:1	41.0	6.5
LUW 12	45.7	35.7	1.28:1	39.0	6.2
LUW 13	51.7	40.7	1.27:1	39.0	7.0
LUW 14	51.3	40.3	1.27:1	33.7	6.0
LUW 15	47.5	37.0	1.28:1	33.5	5.0
<b>MAS 01</b>	46.0	39.0	1.17:1	37.0	5.0
MAS 02	47.0	39.5	1.21:1	37.0	4.5
<b>MAS 03</b>	52.0	38.5	1.35:1	32.0	6.0
MUK 01	42.0	30.0	1.40:1	38.0	5.0
MUK 02	52.3	41.0	1.29:1	38.6	6.0
MUK 03	52.0	44.5	1.17:1	41.0	8.6
Means	49.8	38.1	1.32:1	37.6	5.6
LSD (5%)	6.79	0.75 .		5.91	0.72
CV (%)	8.30	1.22		10.17	7.75

 Table 8: Micro morphological characteristics of 37 Phytophthora isolates isolated from

 PHRD infested pineapple leaves at NARL, Trial I 2016



Figure 5: Micro morphological features of *Phytophthora* spp *isolates*. A and B) Limoniform Sporangia. C) Ovoid sporangium. D and E) Papillate sporangia. F) Sympodium sporangiophore branching. G and H) Terminal chlamydospores. I) Aseptate hyphae.

The longest and shortest isolate sporangia lengths were 57.5µm (LUW 06) and 33.2µm (KAY 08) respectively. The average sporangia length was 49.8µm. In contrast, the widest and narrowest sporangia breadths were 44.5µm (MUK 03) and 30µm (MUK 01 respectively. The average sporangia breadth was 38.1µm; accordingly, the length to breadth ratio was 1.32:1. The highest proportion (97%) of the isolates produced chlamydospores with diameter ranging from 25-42µm in contrast to 3% that did not produce chlamydospores (Table 6). When the experiment was repeated in trial II, all Isolates produced chlamydospores with similar diameter as in Trial I. For other parameters, a similar trend was observed (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Micro morphological characteristics of 12 selected *Phytophthora* isolates at NARL, trial II 2016.

#### 3.4 Discussion

The objective of this study was to identify the causal organism(s) of PHRD in central Uganda using morphological characteristics.

## 3.4.1 Isolation of Phytophthora species associated with pineapple heart rot disease

Pineapple heart rot disease causal organisms were isolated using amended Corn meal agar (CMA). This could probably be because CMA agar was deficient in nutrients hence prevented rapid growth of other organisms. Besides, *Phytophthora* being a slow growing organism, was given time to get established as a result of CMA media being low in nutrient content. Additionally, amendments of the media improved efficiency of isolation by directly suppressing contaminants. These results therefore corroborated the earlier reports of Drenth and Sendall (2001) that *Phytophthora* grows slowly *in vitro* and therefore requires media that is "weak" in nutritional terms to allow it to establish. For that reason, growth of bacterial and fungal contaminants is reduced, allowing colonies of *Phytophthora* to become established. To improve effectiveness of *Phytophthora* isolation from infected materials, addition of antibiotics like ampicillin rifampicin (to restrict the growth of gram positive and gram negative bacterial) and antifungals like pimaricin, benomyl, pentachloronitrobenzene (PCNB), and hymexazol (to restrict non *Phytophthora* fungus) is recommended (Drenth and Sendall, 2001; Jeffers, 2006).

### 3.4.2 Sporulation of Phytophthora species isolates

In this study 100% of the isolates were able to sporulate when flooded with NS – SES; in fact, isolates sporulated irrespective of the origin. Available literature indicates no relationship between sporulation of *Phytophthora* isolates with geographical origin. Sporulation by NS – SES could be because NS – SES provided nutrients that induced sporulation of *Phytophthora*. This

result is consistent with Jeffers (2006) and Zentmyer and Chen (1969) that *Phytophthora* sporulates easily when isolates are flooded with sufficient NS – SES According to Zentmyer and Chen, (1969) NS-SES contains bacteria in the genera *Chromobacterium* and *Pseudomonas* that supply some substance that is necessary for the fungus to produce sporangia, a substance which *Phytophthora* cannot form by itself in culture (Zentmyer and Chen, 1969). Additionally, bacteria cause a sudden reduction in food supply through competition, which forces *Phytopthora* into the sporulation stage instead of the vegetative stage (Zentmyer and Marshall 1959; Zentmyer and Chen, 1969).

### 3.4.3 Pathogenicity of Phytophthora species isolates recovered

Pathogenicity testing is normally used to identify and confirm unknown pathogens. In this study, 97% (37/38) of the isolates were pathogenic to pineapple plants. In fact, 97% of the inoculated pineapple plants in trial I produced symptoms characteristic of PHRD. These was due to high aggressiveness by *Phytophthora* isolates resulting into infection shown by appearance PHRD symptoms. This in agreement with a report by Rodriguez *et al.* (2015) that the majority of *P. nicotianae* isolates were pathogenic producing 95% infection on plants upon inoculated. The symptoms produced following inoculation of pineapple plants were characteristics of PHRD observed in other parts of the world. The symptoms started with water soaked lesions at the base of the leaves and the heart of the pineapple plant, the leaves turned a lighter green, the tips become necrotic and develop a characteristic foul smell. This is probably a result of physical hyphae penetration that allows entry of other secondary organisms (fungi and bacteria) which cause oxidation hence accumulation of cellular degradation residues (Agrios, 2005; Arévalo-Galarza, 2012; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015). Accordingly, *Phytophthora* zoospores are attracted to invade elongation and differentiation zones producing progressive symptoms (Galiana *et al.*,

2005; Attard *et al.*, 2010). A report by Duniway (1983) and Shreenivasa *et al.* (2015) indicated that most cases of heart rot in pineapples are common during rainy season with temperatures oscillating between 24-26 °C and relative humidity of 90-100 %. Wet conditions are known to lead to high inoculum densities of the pathogen in the soil thereby increasing infection of susceptible hosts. Additionally, pathogenicity of the pathogen isolates relates to ability to produce high sporangia numbers. According to Shea *et al.* (1978), sporangial size and number have a relationship with pathogenicity. Thus, the ability of an isolate to produce greater numbers of sporangia may provide it with the potential to release more zoospores making it more virulent (Mbaka *et al.*, 2010). This coincides with the results of this study where all isolates produced considerable number of sporangia. The sporangia released zoospores that caused rapid infection of pineapple plants resulting into appearance of PHRD symptom within seven days. The high pathogenicity of *Phytophthora* spp isolates suggests that this pathogen is a serious threat to pineapple production in Uganda.

# 3.4.4 Morphological characterization of *Phytophthora* species associated with pineapple heart rot disease

In this study, all the isolates were identified as *P. nicotianae*. *P. nicotianae* was mostly characterized by mostly ovoid papillate non caduceus sporangium  $(32.4-56\times30-41.5\mu m, length/breadth ratio of 1.32:1)$ . Hyphae were coralloid and sporangiophores were sympodially branched. Also, the largest proportion of isolates (97%) produced terminal chlamydospores (25 to 42 µm in diameter) with exception of one isolate. Earlier, reports indicated the presence of intercalary and terminal chlamydospores in *P. nicotianae* (Hall, 1993). Similarly, Palmucci *et al.* (2013) reported that *P. nicotianae* produced persistent, mono- and sometimes bipapillate,

spherical to ovoid, ellipsoid, obpyriform sporangia (28–54×42–46  $\mu$ m; length/breadth ratio of 1.3:1). However, terminal and intercalary chlamydospores (25 to 48  $\mu$ m in diameter) and sexual structures were not observed in Argentina. Similarly, a report from Taiwan indicated that *P. nicotianae* produced sporangia with length 40 (48.2) - 55 $\mu$ m breadth of 30 (36.6) – 45 $\mu$ m and length to breadth ration of 1.06 – 1.43 $\mu$ m. The chlamydospores diameter was between 30-45  $\mu$ m (Pao-Jen *et al.*, 2010). Gallup *et al.* (2006) in North Carolina indicated that hyphae of *P. nicotianae* were irregular with the width of 3-11 $\mu$ m with few numerous hyphal swellings. Sporangia were ovoid, pear-shaped, or spherical, very conspicuous papillae (Sizes of sporangia vary (18-70 x 14-39  $\mu$ m) with isolate and the growth medium and chlamydospores ranges from 13 to 60  $\mu$ m in diameter which coincides with the findings of this study. In China, Ho and He (2011) reported that *P. nicotianae* produced non-caduceus, terminal, papillate and mostly obpyriform sporangia, av. 46.2x34.9  $\mu$ m with the mean length/breadth ratio as 1.34:1 Chlamydospores were spherical, thick-walled (av. 30.2  $\mu$ m diameter. All this is in agreement with the findings of this study.

*Phytophthora nicotianae* isolates exhibited both macro-morphological (growth rate) and micromorphological (sporangial morphology) variations. The differences observed could be due to variation in temperature, soil conditions, and altitude from where samples were picked. Earlier, Mbaka *et al.* (2010) reported phenotypic variations (radial growth rate, colony morphology) and sporangial dimensions within isolates of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in Kenya. Similarly, in another study, Bernadovicova and Juhasova (2005) reported statistical significant differences in growth rates and sporangia dimensions within *Phytophthora* species isolates in Slovakia. Accordingly, Mounde *et al.* (2012) from Kenya reported that *P. nicotianae* colony diameter varied between 5mm - 40mm/day between day one and day seven after incubation at  $24^{\circ}C$ . In this study growth rate was slightly lower with colony diameters of isolates ranging between 3 - 25mm between day one and day seven after incubation at  $24^{\circ}C - 26^{\circ}C$ .

Accordingly, better understanding of phenotypic variation within the causal pathogen population is vital for development of management strategies for a disease (Mbaka *et al.*, 2010).

The fact that isolates tested induced characteristic heart rot disease symptoms on inoculated pineapples confirms that *Phytophthora* is a principal causative agent of PHRD in central Uganda. Accordingly, this study has confirmed previous studies from other parts of the world that PHRD is caused by *Phytopthora* species (Mbaka *et al.*, 2010; Shen *et al.*, 2013; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015). These findings therefore have demonstrated that pineapple heart rot disease in Masaka, Mukono, Luwero and Kayunga districts in Uganda was caused by *P. nicotianae*. Similarly, in China and Mexico, *P. nicotianae* was confirmed as the causal organisms of PHRD (Shen *et al.*, 2013; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2013; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015). Additionally, among the major constraints for pineapple growers in India was heart rot caused by *Phytopthora parasitica* that causes serious economic damage (Shreenivasa *et al.*, 2015).

The identification of all isolates from the four districts of Uganda as *Phytophthora nicotianae* has confirmed that the pathogen is wide spread in central Uganda. The high prevalence of *P. nicotianae* could be because the four districts are located at high elevations, with high rainfall that favors the survival and movement of *Phytophthora* zoospores. Favourable temperatures and poorly drained soils in this area could have also favoured the spread of PHRD through swimming of zoospores. These findings confirm reports that *P. nicotianae* is most prevalent at

high temperatures (Ricci *et al.*, 1990; Erwin and Rebeiro, 1996). Additionally, Weste and Vithanage, (1979) reported that inoculum levels of *Phytophthora* is usually very low during the dry season but high during the rainy season. According to Mounde *et al.* (2012), *P. nicotianae* in Kenya was confined within coastal lowlands compared to other parts of the country. In contrast, a survey of *Phytophthora* species attacking crops in Hainam province in China revealed that *P. nicotianae* was the predominant species (Zeng *et al.*, 2009). The fact that *P. nicotianae* is reported as one of the most destructive pathogens that cover a wide ecological habit, calls for an immediate intervention because the tropical regions where Uganda falls are among the major pineapple production areas. According to many authors, *Phytopthora* pathogens are very destructive to crops and their wide spatial distribution makes management difficult (Hu, 2007; Joy and Sihdhu, 2012).

#### CHAPTER FOUR

# IN VITRO REACTION OF Phytophthora nicotianae ISOLATES TO FUNGICIDES

#### 4.1 Introduction

The study reported in Chapter Three (this thesis) identified *Phytophthora nicotianae* as the causal organism of PHRD in central Uganda. *Phytophthora nicotianae* (syn: *Phytophthora parasitica*) is reported to be destructive on numerous herbaceous annuals and perennial plant species (Erwin and Ribeiro, 1996; Benson and von Broembsen, 2001). *Phytophthora* is disseminated to neighboring plants by splashes of sporangia (Benson and von Broembsen, 2001). Thus management of diseases caused by *Phytopthora* pathogens can be difficult.

Chemical control remains a primary approach for *Phytophthora diseases* (Hu *et al.*, 2008). Metalaxyl and Fosetyl Al are some of the major compounds used for management of *Phytophthora* diseases in plants (Jeffers and Miller, 2001). Due to the high effectiveness of Metalaxyl, farmers are motivated to repeatedly use this product. As a result, Metalaxyl resistance has been increasingly developing in pathogens including *Phytophthora* spp (Jeffers *et al.*, 2004). In Uganda victory powder which is an alternative fungicide to Metalaxyl is used by farmers for managing other fungal diseases. However, little is known about the sensitivity of *P. nicotianae* to Metalaxyl, Fosetyl Al and Victory powder in Uganda. Information on fungicide reaction is critical to developing management strategies (Hu *et al.*, 2008; Akrofi, 2015). The objective of this study therefore was to assess *in vitro* reaction of *P. nicotianae* isolates to Metalaxyl, Fosetyl Al and Victory powder in Uganda.

# 4.2 Methods and materials

#### 4.2.1 Experimental location and fungicides

The study was conducted in the laboratory at National Agricultural Research Laboratories Kawanda (NARL) (1190 meters above sea level, 0°25'05" N, 32°31'54" E) in central Uganda. Experiments were carried out twice in 2016. Twenty isolates from study I (this thesis) were assessed for their sensitivity to the fungicides Metalaxyl [Methyl N-(methoxyacetyl)-N-(2, 6-xylyl)-DL-alaninate], Victory (Metalaxyl 8% + mancozeb 64%), and Fosetyl-Al [(Aluminum tris (O-ethyl phosphonate)].

Three fungicides were compared to assess their efficacy for management of PHRD in Uganda. Victory 72 powder efficacy was tested because it's local availability in Uganda (can act as an alternative fungicide for Metalaxyl). Fosetyl Al was included in the study because it has been used in other countries like India for management of *Phytophthora nicotianae* causing PHRD (Shreenivasa *et al.*, 2015). Later, concentrations 0.01 and 0.001 g/L Metalaxyl was introduced due to the fact that 0.01 g/L Metalaxyl caused complete suppression of *Phytophthora nicotianae* growth *in vitro*.

#### 4.2.2 Media preparation and amendment

V8 media (10%) was prepared following the description of Jeffers (2006). Appropriate quantities of the fungicide solution were then poured in autoclaved media after cooling to about 55-60 °C (Hu *et al.*, 2008). In trial I of this study, 20 isolates randomly selected from experiment I. Each of the 20 isolates was grown on 10% V8 agar in petri plates for 7days at 25°C (Kimberly *et al.*, 2010). Thereafter, a 5 mm diameter mycelial disc was taken from fungal culture and transferred to the center of a petri plate containing 10 ml of clarified V8 agar amended with fungicides

Metalaxyl and Victory 72 at a concentration of 0.1 g/L Metalaxyl and Victory 72 powder. Control plates without fungicides were included in the study. Culture plates for each isolate were arranged in complete randomized design (CRD) and replicated three times. In trial II, eight isolates selected based on district representation were further assayed for fungicide sensitivity in the same manner described in trial I.

Since all the isolates were sensitive to the fungicides at concentration 0.1g/L, eight isolates were selected basing on district representation for further fungicide assays at lower concentrations 0.01 and 0.001g/L metalaxyl and Fosetyl Al (replaced victory powder) to examine behavior of isolate growth at reduced concentrations of fungicides following the same manner described in the previous experiment of 0.1g/L metalaxyl and Victory 72 powder. The study was conducted in two trials (Trial I and II).

### 4.2.3 Data collection and analyses

Colony measurements were recorded on the third, fifth and sixth day after transfer. This was done by measuring the diameter of the colony and subtracting 5mm to correct for the plug length. Measurement did not go beyond the 6<sup>th</sup> day since some isolates had already covered the petri plate (Al-Masri *et al.*, 2015). Isolates were scored as resistant or sensitive (Hu, 2007) depending on whether or not they grew in 0.1g/L metalaxyl. Percentage inhibition for each isolate was calculated as the difference between the mean colony diameter of fungicide amended plates and control plates expressed as a percentage (% ratio) (Bekker *et al.*, 2005), mathematically expressed as:

Percentage inhibition =  $\frac{(C - T) \times 100}{C}$ Where:

C = colony diameter (mm) on the control plate

T = colony diameter (mm) on the test plate

......

Data on colony diameters was analyzed using analysis of variance in Genstat computer programme (15<sup>th</sup> edition) (Bekker *et al.*, 2005). Where there were significant differences between means were separated using the Least Significant Different (LSD) test at 5% probability level.

4.3 Results

## 4.3.1 Reaction of Phytophthora nicotianae isolates to Metalaxyl and Victory 72 powder

The growth on V8 media was highly significantly (P<0.001) isolates during the third and fifth days. However, there were no significant differences (P>0.05) on the sixth day. The effect of fungicides on the growth of isolates in the media was not significant (P<0.05). Similarly, a no significant (P<0.05) isolate  $\times$  fungicide treatment interaction was observed for the colony diameters. In trial II, the results followed the same trend (Table 8).

In general, all the isolates tested from all the districts were sensitive to Metalaxyl and Victory 72 powders at 0.1 g/L. In fact, there was almost no fungal growth observed on V8 media treated with Metalaxyl and Victory 72 powder as opposed to the control in all the seven days (Figure 7).

# Table 9: Summary of ANOVA for the effect of Metalaxyl and Victory 72 powder on

		Trial I		
Source of variation	D.F	Day three	Day five	Day six
Isolate	19	6.51***	2744.21 ***	28.09 <sup>NS</sup>
Treatment	2	22066.94 NS	64271.34 NS	100488.94 <sup>NS</sup>
Isolate × Treatment	38	6.51 <sup>NS</sup>	7.44 <sup>NS</sup>	2865.09 NS
		Trial II		
Isolate	19	7.21***	2649.89 ***	27.55 <sup>NS</sup>
Treatment	2	22011.71 NS	65211.45 NS	104337.74 <sup>NS</sup>
Isolate × Treatment	38	7.57 <sup>NS</sup>	9.25 <sup>NS</sup>	2732.23 NS

growth of 20 Phytophthora nicotianae isolates at NARL, 2016.

\*\*\* means significance at <0.001



Figure 7: Complete suppression of mycelial growth of *Phytophthora nicotianae* isolates by Metalaxyl and Victory 72 powder at NARL, 2016 A) Complete suppression at 0.1g/L Metalaxyl on the seventh day of incubation. B) Complete suppression at 0.1g/L Victory 72 powder on the seventh day of incubation. C) Control plates with *Phytophthora nicotianae* isolate growth.

# 4.3.2 Reaction of Phytophthora nicotianae isolates to Metalaxyl and Fosetyl Al

The growth of isolates slightly varied in V8 media (P<0.05) in both trial I and II on the third and fifth days. However, the growth was highly significantly different by the sixth day (P = 0.001). Additionally, different fungicides significantly affected the growth of isolates in media. Accordingly, different fungicide concentrations greatly affected the growth of *Phytophthora* 

*nicotianae* isolates (P = 0.001). However, isolate × treatment influenced the colony diameters of isolates (P<0.05) only on the sixth day (Table 9).

The highest and lowest colony diameters were recorded in Fosetyl Al and Metalaxyl fungicides, respectively (Figure 8). The highest and lowest colony diameters in 0.001 g/L Fosetyl Al amended plates were 71.67 mm (MAS 01) and 13.67mm (LUW 14) compared to 71.33mm (MAS 01) and 7.50mm (LUW 14) in metalaxyl amended plates respectively. Accordingly, at 0.01g/L Fosetyl Al, the highest and lowest colony diameters were 71.89 mm (MAS 01) and 17.61 mm (MUK 01) compared to 77.44mm (MAS 01) and 0.00mm (MUK 01; MAS 02) in Metalaxyl amended plates. In general, isolates KAY 01, KAY 14, MUK 01, MUK 02 and MAS 02 had the lowest colony diameters with complete suppression at 0.01 g/L Metalaxyl concentration opposed to isolate MAS 01 (Figure 8).

Table 10: Summary of ANOVA for the effect of Metalaxyl and Fosetyl Al on the growth of eight selected *Phytophthora nicotianae* isolates at NARL, 2016

		Trial I		
Source of Variation	D.F	Day three	Day five	Day six
Isolate	7	1132.2	956.8*	967.9***
Treatment	2	1533.8*	2959.6***	4037.5***
Concentration	1	2658.5*	5115.1***	6048.9***
Isolate × Treatment	14	100.3 <sup>NS</sup>	69.2 <sup>NS</sup>	378.8*
		Trial II		
Isolate	7	1163.4*	982.1*	997.5***
Treatment	2	1499.5*	3031.8***	4133.5***
Concentration	1	2742.2	5178.6***	6132.3***
Isolate × Treatment	14	111.4 <sup>NS</sup>	80.3 <sup>NS</sup>	290.3*
** Means significant at 0.001	*s	ignificant at 0	.05 NS Not	significant



Figure 8: Mean colony diameter of eight *Phytophthora nicotianae* isolates in different Metalaxyl and Fosetyl Al concentrations at NARL, 2016.

In terms of inhibition, Metalaxyl at concentration 0.01g/L produced highest mycelial growth inhibition of isolates as opposed to Fosetyl Al. In fact all the isolates used were highly inhibited with exception of MAS 01 that had the lowest inhibition at concentration 0.01g/L metalaxyl. At concentration 0.001g/L, Metalaxyl, the highest inhibition was 61.51% (isolate MAS 02) while the lowest inhibition was 5% (isolate MAS 01) respectively compared to 53% (LUW 14) and 8.59% (MAS 01) in Fosetyl Al respectively (Figure 9). Accordingly, at concentration 0.01g/L, Metalaxyl, the highest inhibition was 100% (MUK 01) and the lowest was 11% (MAS 01) compared to 72% (LUW 14) and 8.59% (MAS 01) (Figure 9).

In general, low mycelial growth was observed in all Metalaxyl amended plates even at reduced concentrations compared to plates amended with Fosetyl Al (Figure 10). The results did not differ from the first trial in the second trial (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Percentage inhibition of eight *Phytophthora nicotianae* isolates at different Metalaxyl and Fosetyl Al concentrations at NARL trial I and II, 2016.



Figure 10: Mycelial growth of representative *Phytophthora nicotianae* isolates in different concentrations of Metalaxyl and Fosetyl Al. A) Control plate. **B and C)** Mycelial growth in petri plates amended with 0.01 g/L Metalaxyl concentration. **D)** Mycelial growth petri plate amended with 0.001g/L Metalaxyl. **E)** Mycelial growth in the petri plates amended with in 0.01 g/L Fosetyl Al. **F)** Mycelial growth in the petri plates amended with 0.001g/L Fosetyl Al.

# 4.4 Discussion

The objective of this study was to determine the *in vitro* reaction of PHRD causal pathogen(s) to Metalaxyl, Fosetyl Al and Victory powder for the management of fungal diseases in central Uganda. The results of this study have shown that all the isolates of *Phytophthora nicotianae* were sensitive to Metalaxyl and Victory powder at 0.1g/L and a varying response to Metalaxyl and Fosetyl at concentrations lower than 0.1g/L. This shows that Victory 72 powder can be used for managing PHRD disease in absence of Metalaxyl which is normally scarce. These results suggest that these fungicides can suppress *Phytophthora nicotianae* and hence can be used in the management of PHRD in Uganda. Sensitivity of *Phytophthora nicotianae* isolates was probably

attributed to low selection pressure since the pathogen was not exposed to excessive use of chemicals in Uganda. There was however a variation in the reaction of isolates to the tested fungicides. For example, isolate MAS 01 was less sensitive to the fungicides. The reason for this is not clear but could be due to a mutation in the pathogenicity gene of this isolate. This however needs to be proved in other studies. Some studies have pointed to geographical influence on sensitivity of isolates to certain fungicides. Fontema *et al.* (2005) reported that in Cameroon Metalaxyl sensitivity was significantly influenced by geographic origin of the isolates because in certain regions, farmer used excessive chemicals resulting into resistance.

From the results, Fosetyl Al did not suppress *Phytophthora nicotianae* as well as the other fungicides did. Fenn and Coffey (1983) reported that Fosetyl-A1 was less effective against *Phytophthora* and some other diseases caused by Peronosporales. Similarly, Boughalleb *et al.* (2006) in Tunisia reported that Metalaxyl and Fosetyl A1 were only effective in inhibiting mycelial growth *in vitro* at high concentrations. Additionally, Wagner *et al.* (2007), in California reported that *in vitro* inhibition of *Phytophthora* mycelial growth by Metalaxyl can be achieved with a concentration range of 0.001-<1 g/L. In India, a study by Padmaja *et al.* (2015) revealed that Metalaxyl (2.5 g/L) reduced *in vitro* growth of *Phytophthora nicotianae* by 92.9 %. However, this study has shown that at low concentration (0.1g/L), *Phytophthora nicotianae* growth was totally inhibited. This could probably be a result of limited or non-exposure of this fungal population to these fungicides.

Low inhibition of mycelia by Fosetyl Al at low concentration in this study is in agreement with Rohrbach and Schenke (1985) who reported that high *in vitro* inhibition of mycelial growth of *P*. *nicotianae* by Fosetyl Al can be achieved with concentrations between 0.3-1g/L. Similarly, Fenn

and Coffey (1984) in California reported that complete mycelial growth inhibition of *Phytophthora* species using Fosetyl Al requires the use of high concentrations.

In general, the result of this study has an implication on the management of PHRD in Uganda. Infact, this result shows that fungicides can be incorporated in integrated management of PHRD in Uganda.

.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

#### GENERAL DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### 5.1 General discussion

The identification of *Phytophthora nicotianae* as a principle cause of PHRD in Uganda has an implication towards the development of PHRD management strategies. Infact, diversity of pathogen populations has been reflected in the variation of macro and micro morphological features examined in this study. Several authors have reported that development of successful management strategies for a disease relies on the identity of the pathogen and extent of phenotypic variation within the causal *Phytophthora* pathogen (Mbaka *et al.*, 2010; Akrofi 2015) being well understood.

This study has also demonstrated that Metalaxyl is a promising chemical for the control of PHRD in Uganda. However, this needs to be incorporated into integrated management due to devastating effects of over using chemicals to the environment. For example, in India, integrated disease management of pineapple heart rot disease involving selection of healthy planting materials and use of 0.2% Metalaxyl and 0.1% Fosetyl Al reduced the effect of PHRD on pineapple (Shreenivasa *et al.*, 2015).

# 5.2 Conclusions

The study has shown that PHRD in Uganda is caused by *Phytophthora nicotianae*. The pathogen exhibited a great diversity indicated by variation in macro and micro morphological features.

The study has also shown that all the *Phytopthora nicotianae* isolates were sensitive to Metalaxyl and Victory 72 powder *in vitro* at 0.1g/L.

Metalaxyl was more effective at suppressing the growth of *Phytophthora nicotianae* isolates compared to Fosetyl Al *in vitro*.

# 5.3 Recommendations

Arising from objectives and conclusions of this study, the following are recommended.

- i. Molecular characterization of isolates in this study is needed to confirm the true genetic identity of *Phytophthora nicotianae* isolates in order to validate these results.
- Studies on fungicide concentration need to conducted so as to determine the minimum effective concentration of Metalaxyl, victory 72 and Fosetyl Al for management of PHRD in Uganda.
- Field studies are required to determine the efficacy of metalaxyl and Victory 72 powder fungicides for the management of PHRD in Uganda.
- The results of this study be adopted and used in creating awareness on PHRD causal pathogen in Uganda.

#### REFERENCES

- Aghighi, S., Burgessa, T.I., Scott, J.K., Calvera, M. and Hardy, G.E. (2015). Isolation and pathogenicity of *Phytophthora* species from declining *Rubus anglocandicans*. *Plant Pathology*, Doi: 10.1111/ppa.12436.
- Agrios, G. (2005). Plant Pathology. 5th edition. Elsevier Academic Press. San Diego, CA.
- Akhilomen, O.L., Bivan, G.M., Rahman S.A. and Sanni, S.A. (2015). The profitability analysis and perceived constraints of farmers in pineapple production in Edo State, Nigeria. *American Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 5(6):546-554.
- Akrofi, A.Y. (2015). Phytophthora megakarya: A review on its status as a pathogen on cocoa in West Africa. African Crop Science Journal, 23:67 – 87.
- Aragaki, M., and Uchida, J. Y. (2001). Morphological distinctions between *Phytophthora capsci* and *P. tropicalis* sp, Nov. *Mycologia*, 93:137-145.
- Amao, I.O. (2011). Economic analysis of pineapple marketing in Edo and Delta states Nigeria. Libyan Agric, Research Centre, 2(5):205-208.
- Al-Masri, M.I., Sharawi, S.M. and Barakat, R.M. (2015). Effect of Clammy Inula (*Inula viscose*) plant extract in ombination with a low dose of the *Fungicide Iprodione* on *Botrytis* cinerea in vitro and in vivo. American Journal of Plant Sciences, 6:1519-1526. http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ajps.2015.69151.
- Appiah, A.A., Flood, J., Bridge, P.D. and Archer, S.A. (2003). Inter and intraspecific morphometric variation and characterization of *Phytophthora* isolates from cocoa. *Plant Pathology*, 52(2): 168.
- Attard, A., Gourgues, M., Callemeyn-Torre N., and Keller, H. (2010). The immediate activation of defense responses in Arabidopsis roots is not sufficient to prevent *Phytophthora* parasitica infection. New Phytologist, 187 (2): 449–460.
- Bartholomew, D.P., Paull, R.E. and Rohrbach, K.G. (2003). The pineapple botany, production and uses. Department of Tropical Plant and Soil Science, CTAHR, University of Hawai'i www. dx.doi.org/10.1079/9780851995038.000.
- Benson, D.M. and Von Broembsen, S. (2001). Phytophthora root rot and dieback. In: Jones RK, Benson DM, eds. Diseases of Woody Ornamentals and Trees in Nurseries. St. Paul, MN USA: APS Press.
- Bernadovicova, S. (2003). Huby rodu Phytophthora ako pôvodcovia poškodenia gaštana jedlého (Castanea sativa Mill.) na vybraných lokalitách Slovenska [Phytophthora fungi as a causal agents of damage to European chestnut (Castanea sativa Mill.) at selected
localities in Slovakia]. PhD thesis. Nitra: Institute of Forest Ecology SAS. 114 p.

- Bernadovicova, S. and Juhasova, G. (2005). Cultural characteristics of *Phytophthora* fungi causal agents of ink disease on chestnut trees (*Castanea sativa Mill.*) in Slovakia. *Folia oecologica*, **32**(2): ISSN 1336-5266.
- Bekker, T.F., Kaiser, C., Van der Merwe, R. and Labuschagne, N.(2005). *In-vitro* inhibition of mycelial growth of several phytopathogenic fungi, including *Phytophthora cinnamomi* by soluble silicon, South African Avocado Growers' Association Yearbook.
- Bevan, S. W., Paderes, E., Anand, N., Uchida, J., Pennycook, S., Bellgard, S. and Beever, R. (2015). A taxonomic revision of *Phytophthora* clade 5 including two new species, *Phytophthora agathidicida* and *P. cocois. Phytotaxa*, 205 (1):021–038.
- Boughalleb, A.M. and El Mahjoub, M. (2006). Effect of four fungicides in the development of *Phytophthora* on apple tree on *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *International Journal of Agricultural Research*, 1(6):582-589
- Bua B., Karungi, J. and Kawube, G. (2013). Occurrence and effects of pineapple mealy bug wilt disease in Uganda. *Journal of Agricultural Sciences and Technology*, 3:410-416.
- Chen, D. and Zentmyer, G. A. (1970). Production of sporangia by *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in axenic culture. Mycologia, **62**:397-402.
- Clement, C.R., Araújo M.C., Eeckenbrugge, G.C., Pereira, A.L. and Rodrigues, D. P. (2010). Origin and Domestication of Native Amazonian. *Crops Diversity*, 2:72-106.
- Coppens, G., Leal, F. and Duval, M. F. (1997). Germplasm resources of pineapple Hort. Rev., 21:133-175.
- Cocova, C.A. (2002). Comission decommercializacion agropecuatia, Gabiernodel Estado daveracruz, Mexico.
- Dakwa, J.T. (1974). The availability of *Phytophthora palmivora* (Butl.) Bud. Inoculum for the development of cocoa black pod disease. *Jnl agric. Sci.* 7:117-120.
- Dobrowolski, M. P., Shearer, B. L., Colquhoun, I. J., O'Brien, P. A. and Hardy G. E. (2008). Selection for decreased sensitivity to phosphite in *Phytophthora cinnamomi* with prolonged use of fungicide. *Plant Pathology*, 57: 928–936.
- Drenth, A. and Sendall, B. (2001). Practical guide to detection and identification of *Phytophthora* in Australia. CRC for Tropical Plant Protection, 2:1-38.
- Drenth, A. and Sendall, B. (2004). Isolation of *Phytophthora* from infected pineapple tissues and soil: Principles and species identification pages 94-102. In Drenth and Guest, D.I. (ed). Diversity and management of *Phytophthora* Diseases in South East Asia, ACIAR

Monograph No. 114.

- Duniway, J. M. (1983). Role of physical factors in the development of *Phytophthora* diseases. p. 175-187 In: *Phytophthora*: Its Biology, Taxonomy, Ecology and Pathology. D. C. Erwin, S. Bartnicki-Garcia, and P. H. Tsao (eds.) American *Phytopathological Society*, St. Paul, MN.
- Duncan C. H., Riley, M.B. and Jeffers, S. N. (2008). Characterization of *Phytophthora* cinnamomi populations from ornamental plants in South Carolina, USA. Archives of *Phytopathology and Plant Protection*, 41:14-30.
- Elliott, M., Shamoun, F. S. and Sumampong, G. (2015). Effects of systemic and contact fungicides on life stages and symptom expression of *Phytophthora* ramorum *in vitro* and in planta. *Crop Protection*, 67:136-144.
- Erwin, D.C. and Ribeiro, O.K. (1996). *Phytophthora* Diseases worldwide, APS Press, USA 346-353.
- FAOSTAT (2013). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Consultado Enero 2013. <u>http://faostat.fao.org</u>.
- Ferguson, A. J. and Jeffers, S. N. (1999). Detecting multiple species of *Phytophthora* in container mixes from ornamental crop nurseries. *Plant Disease*, 83:1129-1136.
- Fenn, M.E. and Coffey, M.D. (1983). In vitro and in vivo antifungal activity of Fosetyl- Al and Phosphoric acid. Phytopathology, 74:606-611.
- FIT Uganda Ltd (2007). Study for fruit sector (pineapples, passion fruit and mangoes). SsemwangaConsulting Ltd, pp 1-114.
- Fontema, D.A., Olanya, O.M Tsopmbenga, G.R. and Owonaa, M.A.P (2005). Pathogenicity and Metalaxyl sensitivity of *Phytophthora infestans* isolates obtained from garden huckleberry potato and tomato in Cameroon. *Crop Protection*, 24:449–456.
- Galiana, E., Rivière, M.-P., Pagnotta, S., Baudouin, E., Panabières, F., Gounon, P., and Boudier, L. (2005). Plant-induced cell death in the oomycete pathogen *Phytophthora parasitica*. *Cellular Microbiology*, 7 (9):1365–1378.
- Ganoo, S. and Saumtally, S. (2001). In vitro resistance of Phytophthora infestans to Metalaxyl and control of late blight using non- Phenylamide fungicide. African Crop Science Society Conference Proceedings, 5:487-491.
- Gallup, C.A., Sullivan, M.J. and Shew, H.D. (2006). Black Shank of Tobacco. *The Plant Health* Instructor. DOI: 10.1094/PHI-I-2006-0717-01.
- Gap, D. K., Eun, Y. J., Hyun, W. S. and Seon, T.J. (2010). Textural and Sensory Properties of

pork jerk Adjusted with tenderizers. Korean Journal of Food Science and Animal Resource, 30 (6):930-937.

- Green, J. and Scot, N. (2015). Heart and Root Rots of Pineapple. *Plant disease*, www.ctahr.hawai,eduocfreepubspdfPD.106.pdf.pdf/
- Gisi, U. and Cohen, Y. (1996). Resistance to phenylamide fungicides: A Case Study with *Phytophthora infestans* involving mating type and race structure. Annual Rev. *Phytopathology* 34:549-72.
- Hall, G. (1993). An integrated approach to the analysis of variation in *Phytophthora nicotianae* and a redescription of the species. *Mycological Res.* 97(5):559-574.

Hardham, A. R. (2005). Phytophthora cinnamomi. Molecular Plant Pathology, 6:589-604.

- Hassan, A., Othman, Z., and Siriphanich, J. (2011). Pineapple (Ananas comosus L. Merr.) p. 194-212. In: Postharvest biology and ethnology of tropical and subtropical fruits. Vol. 4 Mangosteen to white sopote. Elhadi M. Yahia (ed.) Woodhead Publishing.UK.
- Ho, H.H., Wu, Y.X. and HE, Y.Q. (2011). Phytophthora nicotianae causing Dendrobium blight in Yunnan Province, China. International Journal of Plant Pathology, 2: 177-186.
- Hu, J.H., Hong, C.X., Stromberg, E.L. and Moorman, G.W. (2008). Mefenoxam sensitivity and fitness analysis of *Phytophthora nicotianae* isolates from nurseries in Virginia, USA. *Plant Pathology* 57:728-736.
- Hu, J. (2007). *Phytophthora nicotianae*: Fungicide Sensitivity, Fitness, and Molecular Markers. PhD Dissertation Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. Pp 1 -123.
- Hurberli, D. (1995). Analysis of variability among isolates of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* rands from *Eucalyptus marginata* donn ex sm. and *e. calophylla* r. br. based on cultural characteristics, sporangia and gametangia morphology and pathogenicity. Bsc. thesis Murdoch University, Western Australia. Pp 1 – 117.
- Hüberli, D., Tommerup, I.C., Dobrowolski, M.P., Calver, C. and Hardy, G.E. (2001). Phenotypic variation in a clonal lineage of two *Phytophthora cinnamomi* populations from Western Australia. *Mycological Research*, **105**(9):1053-1064.
- Jeffers, S.N. (2006). Identifying species of *Phytophthora*, Clemson University, USA. http://fhm.fs.fed.us/sp/sod/misc/culturing species phytophthora.pdf
- Jeffers, S.N. and Miller, R.W. (2001). Fungicides for ornamental crops in the nursery. In: Jones R.K. and Benson, D.M. (eds.). Diseases of Woody Ornamentals and Trees in Nurseries. St. Paul, MN, USA: APS Press.

- Jeffers, S.N., Schnabel, G. and Smith, J.P. (2004). First report of resistance to mefenoxam in *Phytophthora cactorum* in the United States and elsewhere. *Plant Disease* 88:576.
- Joy, P.P. (2010). Benefits and uses of Pineapples. Vazhakhulam, 670-686.
- Joy, P.P. and Sindhu, G. (2012). Diseases of pineapple (Ananus comosus), Vazhakhulam, 1-14.
- Jung, T., Nechwatal, J., Cooke, D.E.L., Hartmann, G., Blaschke, M., Oßwald, W.F., Duncan, J.M. and Delatour, C. (2003). *Phytophthora pseudosyringae* sp. nov.a new species causing root and collar rot of deciduous tree species in Europe. *Mycological Research*, 107:772-789.
- Kimberly, L.J., Jingfang, Y., Alexander, S. C. and Pingsheng, J. (2010). Fungicidal activity of fluopicolide for suppression of *Phytophthora capsici* on squash. *Crop Protection*, 29:1421-1427.
- Kirk, P.M., Cannon, P.F., Minter, D.W. and Stalpers, J.A. (2008). *Dictionary of the Fungi*, 10<sup>th</sup> Edition, CAB International,Oxon, UK,1771pp.
- Kujawska, Z.J., Lachowicz, K., Sobczak, M., Nędzarek, A. and Tórz, A. (2013). Effects of natural plant tenderizers on proteolysis and texture of dry sausages produced with wild meat addition. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 12(38):5670-5677.
- Mbaka, J.N., Wamocho, L.S., Turoop, L. and Waiganjo M.M. (2009). The incidence and distribution of *Phytophthora cinammomi* Rands on macadamia in Kenya. *Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences*, 4:289-297.
- Mbaka, J.N., Losenge, T., Waiganjo, M. M. and Wamocho, L.S. (2010). Phenotypic variation in three *Phytophthora cinnamomi* populations from macadamia growing areas in Kenya. *Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences*, 8(1):900-911.
- Milenkovic, I., Nowakowska, A.J., Oszako, T., Mladenovic, K., Lucic, A., Rakonjac, L. and Karadzic, D. (2014). Morphological and molecular identification of *Phytophthora* species from maple trees in Serbia. *Genetika* 46(2):353-368.
- Mounde, L.G., Ateka, E.M., Kihurani, A.W. and Wasilwa, L. (2012). Morphological characterization and identification of *Phytophthora* species causing citrus gummosis in Kenya, *AJFAND* 12(7).
- Mukono zonal agricultural research and development institute (MUZARD) (2010). Understanding the dynamics of pineapple production and marketing in Uganda. Pineapple Market Survey -PMCA Phase I Report. pp 1-23
- Narayana, M.B., Singh, B.P. and Singh, P.H. (2010). Impact of using Metalaxyl based fungicides against late blight of potato. *Potato Journal* 37(1-2):71-72.

. .

against late blight of potato. Potato Journal 37(1-2):71-72.

- National Agriculture Research Organization (NARO) (2012). Pineapple production, Complementary notes for extension workers, National Agriculture Research Laboratories, Kampala, Uganda, 1-80pp.
- Nina, S. (2014). Growth-inhibiting fungicides affect detection of *Phytophthora ramorum* from infected foliage and roots. *Plant Health Progress*, **15**(1):36-40.
- Olanyika, I.B, (2013). Profitability and constraints of pineapple production in Osun state Nigeria. Journal of Horticultural Research, 21(2):59-64.
- Padmaja, G., Kanaka, M.B, Uma, D.G. and Sridevi, D. *Phytophthora colocasiae* causing leaf blight of Taro. In: Chowdappa, P. Muralikrishna, H. (editors). 3<sup>rd</sup> International symposium on Phytophthora: taxonomy, genomics, pathogenicity, resistance and disease Management, ICAR-IIHR, Bengaluru, 9-12, September, 2015.
- Pao-Jen -Jen A., In-Tin, W. and Jyh-Nong, T. (2010). New records of Phytophthora diseases of aromatic crops in Taiwan. *Plant Pathology Bulletin*, 19: 53-68.
- Palmucci, H. E., Grijalba, P. E and Wolcan, S. M. (2013). Basal rot of *Chamelaucium uncinatum* caused by *Phytophthora nicotianae* in Argentina Australasian. *Plant Dis. Notes*, 8:35–37.
- Purwantara, A., Dyah, M., and Warokaka, J.S. (2004). Diversity and management of *Phytophthora* in Southeast Asia, pp. 70-76.
- Rodríguez, C.J., Nieto-Angel, D., De León-García C., de Alba, Ángel V.M., Aguilar-Pérez, L.A., and Ayala-Escobar, Angel, D., De León-García C., de Alba, Ángel V.M., Aguilar-Pérez, L.A., and Ayala-Escobar, V. (2015). Etiología de la pudrición del cogollo de la piña (*Ananas comosus*. L. Merril) cultivar MD2 en Isla, Veracruz.
- Rodriguez, M. C., Morales-Rodríguez Palo, C., Osorio, E., Alonso, E., Duarte, M. S. and Picón-Toro, J. (2010). Short communication. *Phytophthora nicotianae*, the causal agent of root and crown rot (*Tristeza* disease) of red pepper in La Vera region (Cáceres, Spain). *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research*, 8(3): 770-744.
- Rebollar-Alviter, A., Wilson, L.L., Madden, L.V. and Ellis, M.A. (2010). A comparative evaluation of post-infection efficacy of mefenoxam and potassium phosphite with protectant efficacy of azoxystrobin and potassium phosphite for controlling leather rot of strawberry caused by *Phytophthora cactorum*, *Crop Protection* 29:349–353.
- Ricci, P., Pope-de-Vallavieille, C., Panabieres, F., Marais, A. and Auge, G. (1990) Characterization of the *Phytophthora* spp attacking citrus. *OEPP/EPPO Bulletin*, 20:19– 28.

•

- Rohrbach, K.G. and Schenke, S. (1985). Control of pineapple heart rot disease caused by *Phytophthora parasitica* and *P. cinamomi* with Metalaxyl, Fosetyl and phosphoric acid, *Plant Diseases*, 69:320-323.
- Saadoun, M. and Allagui, M.B. (2008). Pathogenic variability of *Phytophthora nicotianae* on pepper in Tunisia. *Journal of Plant Pathology*, 90 (2): 351-355.
- Sadeghy, B., Javan-Nikkhahb N.M. and Nayebyazdi, C. (2014). Identify and relative virulence of seven Phytophthora spp. Causing crown and root rot of citrus trees in Kerman, Iran. Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection 47(1): 69–74.
- Shea, S.R., Gillen, K.J. and Kitt, R.J. (1978). Variation in sporangial production of *Phytophthora* cinnamomi rands on Jarrah (*Eucalyptus marginata* Sm.) forest soils with different understorey compositions. Australian Forest Research, 8: 219-226.
- Shen, H.F., Lin, B.R., Zhan, J.X. and Pu, X.M. (2013). First Report of Pineapple Heart Rot Caused by *Phytophthora nicotianae* in Hainan Province, China. *The American Phytopathological Society*. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-11-12-1017-PDN</u>
- Shreenivasa, K.R., Rekha, D. and Hanumantha B.C (2015). Management of *Phytophthora parasitica* causing Heart rot of Pineapple. In: Chowdappa, P. Muralikrishna, H. (editors). 3<sup>rd</sup> International symposium on Phytophthora: taxonomy, genomics, pathogenicity, resistance and disease Management, ICAR-IIHR, Bengaluru, 9-12, September, 2015.
- Schreier, S. (2013). Diversity among isolates of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* from ornamental plants in South Carolina. <u>http://tigerprints.clemson.edu/all\_theses</u>.
- Shand, A.C. and Yamagata, J.S. (2016). First Report of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* Causing Root Rot of Southern Highbush Blueberry In California. *Plant Disease*, 100(2):537 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-07-15-0738-PDN</u>
- Ssonko, R., Njue, E., Ssebubliba J.M., De jager A. (2005). Pro-poor horticulture in East Africa and South East Asia: The Horticulture sector in Uganda, A Collaboration between Wageningen University Research, Makerere University, Faculty of Agriculture and East African Trade Commission.
- Sunantha, K. and Saroat, R. (2011). Application of Bromelain Extract for Muscle Foods Tenderization. Food and Nutrition Sciences, 2: 393-401.
- Tao, H.H., Ho, Y.X., Wu and HE, Y.Q. (2011). Phytophthora nicotianae causing Dendrobium blight in Yunnan Province. International Journal of Plant Pathology, 2:177-186.
- Tsopmbeng N.G., Appolinaire L.J., Jean M.C. and Ajong, F.D. (2014). Effect of pH and temperature levels on in vitro growth and sporulation of *Phytophthora colocasiae*, taro blight pathogen in Cameroon. *IJAAR*, 4(4):202-206.

- Uganda Investment Authority (UIA), (2001). Investment opportunities in Uganda's Fruit and Vegetable Sector www.ugandainvest.go.ug
- United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD)(2016). Pineapple an INFOCOMM Commodity Profile. Trust Fund on Market Information on Agricultural Commodities NewYork and Geneva, <u>http://unctad.org/en/PublicationsLibrary/INFOCOMM cp09 Pineapple en.pdf</u>
- Wagner, S. Kaminski, K. and Were, S. (2007). Evaluation of fungicides for control of Phytophthora ramorum. Proceedings of Sudden Oak Death Third Science Symposium, March 5-9, 2007, Santa Rosa, California. Pp 481-482.
- Wang, H.C., Chen, X.J., Cai, L.,T., Cao, Y., Lu, N., Xia, H.Q., Wang, M.S., Shang, H.S. and Race. H. (2013). Distribution and distribution of sensitivities to mefenoxam among isolates of *Phytophthora parasitica* var. *nicotianae* in Guizhou province of China. *Crop Protection*, 52:136-140.
- Waterhouse, G.M. (1963). Key to species of *Phytophthora de Bary*. In: Kewsurrey, England: Common Wealth Mycological Institute. *Mycological papers*.
- Weste, G. and Vithanige (1979). Survival of chlamydospores of *Phytopthora cinnamomi* in several non-sterile host free forest soil and gravel at different water potentials, *Australian Journal of Botany*, 27(1): 1-9.
- Zeng, H., Hon-hing H. and Fuy-Cong, Z. (2009). A Survey of *Phytophthora* species on Hainan Island of South China. *Phytopathology* **157**: 33–39.
- Zentmyer, G. A. (1980). *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and the diseases it causes. Monograph No. 10. The American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN.
- Zentmyer, G. A. and Chen, D. (1969). Production of sporangia by *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in pure culture. *California Avocado Society Yearbook*, **53**: 103-107.
- Zentmyer G. A. and Marshall, L. A. (1959). Factors affecting sporangial production by *Phytophthora cinnamomi* (Abst.) *Phytopathology*, 49:556.

. . .

## APPENDICES

Sporangia shape presence and frequency (%)									
Isolate	Ovoid	Limoniform .	Obpyriform	Frequency	Sporangia papillation				
KAY 01	1	1	1	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 02</b>	1	~	~	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 03</b>	~	~	1	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 04</b>	~	~	~	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 05</b>	~	~	~	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 06</b>	~	~	1	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 07</b>	~	$\checkmark$	1	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 08</b>	~	~	1	100	Papillate				
KAY 09	~	~	~	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 10</b>	1	1	~	100	Papillate				
KAY 11	~	$\checkmark$	1	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 12</b>	~	1	1	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 13</b>	~	1	~	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 14</b>	~	~	~	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 15</b>	~	1	1	100	Papillate				
<b>KAY 16</b>	~	~	~	100	Papillate				
LUW 01	~	× ·	~	100	Papillate				
LUW 02	1	~	~	100	Papillate				
LUW 03	1	~	~	100	Papillate				
LUW 04	~	~	1	100	Papillate				
LUW 05	1	1	~	100	Papillate				
LUW 06	1	1	~	100	Papillate				
LUW 07	~	1	~	100	Papillate				
LUW 08	1	1	1	100	Papillate				
LUW 09	1	1	~	100	Papillate				
LUW 10	1	1	~	100	Papillate				
LUW 11	~	~	1	100	Papillate				
LUW 12	1	~	~	100	Papillate				
LUW 13	1	1	~	100	Papillate				
LUW 14	~	~	~	100	Papillate				
LUW 15	1	1	1	100	Papillate				
MAS 01	1	1	1	100	Papillate				
<b>MAS 02</b>	~	1	$\checkmark$	100	Papillate				
MAS 03	~	× ·	~	100	Papillate				
MUK 01	~	~	~	100	Papillate				
MUK 02	1	1	~	100	Papillate				
MUK 03	~	~	~	100	Papillate				
MUK 04	~	~	~	100	Papillate				

Appendix 1: Frequency of Sporangia shapes and sporangia papillation for different isolates at NARL, 2016

## APPENDICES

		Sporangia shape	presence and freque	ency (%)	
Isolate	Ovoid	Limoniform .	Obpyriform	Frequency	Sporangia papillation
KAY 01	1	1	1	100	Papillate
KAY 02	1	~	~	100	Papillate
<b>KAY 03</b>	1	~	~	100	Papillate
<b>KAY 04</b>	~	~	~	100	Papillate
<b>KAY 05</b>	1	~	1	100	Papillate
<b>KAY 06</b>	1	1	1	100	Papillate
<b>KAY 07</b>	1	~	1	100	Papillate
<b>KAY 08</b>	~	~	1	100	Papillate
KAY 09	1	~	~	100	Papillate
<b>KAY 10</b>	~	~	~	100	Papillate
KAY 11	1	~	~	100	Papillate
<b>KAY 12</b>	~	~	~	100	Papillate
<b>KAY 13</b>	1	~	$\checkmark$	100	Papillate
<b>KAY 14</b>	1	1	~	100	Papillate
<b>KAY 15</b>	~	~	~	100	Papillate
<b>KAY 16</b>	1	~	~	100	Papillate
LUW 01	~	× ·	~	100	Papillate
LUW 02	1	~	~	100	Papillate
LUW 03	~	1	1	100	Papillate
LUW 04	1	1	1	100	Papillate
LUW 05	1	~	~	100	Papillate
LUW 06	1	1	~	100	Papillate
LUW 07	1	~	~	100	Papillate
LUW 08	1	~	1	100	Papillate
LUW 09	~	~	~	100	Papillate
LUW 10	1	~	~	100	Papillate
LUW 11	1	~	~	100	Papillate
LUW 12	~	~	~	100	Papillate
LUW 13	1	~	~	100	Papillate
LUW 14	~	~	~	100	Papillate
LUW 15	1	~	1	100	Papillate
MAS 01	1	~	1	100	Papillate
MAS 02	1	1	1	100	Papillate
MAS 03	~	× ·	1	100	Papillate
MUK 01	1	1	1	100	Papillate
MUK 02	~	$\checkmark$	1	100	Papillate
MUK 03	~	~	~	100	Papillate
MUK 04	~	$\checkmark$	~	100	Papillate

Appendix 1: Frequency of Sporangia shapes and sporangia papillation for different isolates at NARL, 2016



Appendix 2: Summary of study activities. A) Collection of samples. B) Autoclaving of media. C) Isolation of PHRD pathogen. D) Incubation of cultures. E) Sorting of pure isolates. F) PHRD pure isolates. G) Pathogenic test. H) Examination of PHRD symptoms in screen house. I) Data collection.